

45th Annual Report
Season 2021/22



45th Annual Report Season 2021/22

Contents

| Benefactors | 2 |
|--|----|
| Officer Bearers 2021/22 | 3 |
| Award Winners – Playing | 5 |
| President's Report | 6 |
| Coach's Report | 8 |
| Subiaco-Floreat Cricket Club – Club Champions 2021-22 | 9 |
| 1 st Grade Report | 10 |
| 2 nd Grade Report | 13 |
| 3 rd Grade Report | 15 |
| 4 th Grade Report | 17 |
| Colts Report | 19 |
| Under 17s Report (Hussey Shield) | 21 |
| Under 15s Report (Mann Shield) | 23 |
| Under 14s Report (McKenzie Shield) | 24 |
| Under 13s Report (Inverarity Shield) | 25 |
| Female Coach's report | 26 |
| Female A Grade Report | 28 |
| Female B Grade Report | 30 |
| Female Youth League Report | 31 |
| Outstanding Performances | 33 |
| 2021/22 Men's Batting and Bowling Averages | 35 |
| All Men's and Women's Grades Leading Batting and Bowling Season Aggregates | 41 |
| 2021/22 Female Batting & Bowling Averages | 43 |
| Club History | 53 |
| Club Premierships and Championships | 56 |
| 1 st Grade Match Results 1977/78 to 2021/22 | 57 |



Benefactors

The Subiaco-Floreat Cricket Club would like to thank:



for wicket maintenance and support services at Floreat Oval and Alderbury Reserve.

We also thank Cricket Australia, the Australian Cricketers Association and the Western Australia Cricket Association for their ongoing support and the following sponsors for the help and support received during the 2020/21 season:

















WEMBLEY SETTLEMENTS













Officer Bearers 2021/22

PRESIDENTMr G. FitzgeraldVICE PRESIDENTSMr G. Di Rosso

Mr A. Sculthorpe

SECRETARY Mr S. McKenzie
TREASURER Mr S. Pearce
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE Mr J. Brock

Mr E. Carey
Mr J. Collins
Mr L. Davies
Ms J. Emery
Mr G. Green
Mr P. Gregson
Ms E. King
Mr A. McKenzie
Ms M. Monaghan
Ms O. Purnell

Mr J. Retallack Mr T. Wilson

JUNIOR ADMINISTRATOR Mr A. Sculthorpe, Mr C. Ko
WACA DELEGATES WADCC – Mr P. Gregson

Juniors – Mr A. Sculthorpe WFCCC – Mr J. Brock

CLUB COACH Mr W. Clark (Male Cricket)

Ms N. Bolton (Female Cricket)

LIFE MEMBERS J.W. Rutherford, R.D. Burgess*, J.H.E Dickens*,

D.F. Phillips*, M.C. Lee*, D.E. Hoare, J.M. Hubble, A.R.B. King, R.G.H. Hann, D.K. Phillips, L.J. Barnes,

R.W. Statham, G.L. Stafford, A.D. Bolton,

T.M. Alderman, K.D. Payne, G.W. Fitzgerald, J. Rule*, C. Beattie, K. Darragh, J. Worland*, I. Plaisted, R. Bolton, J.H.M. Campbell, L. Davies,

G.J. Catlin, G. Swan, V. Rule, P. Thomson,

G. O'Brien, G. Di Rosso

CAPTAINS Mr G. Fatouros 1st Grade

Mr J. Parker 2nd Grade
Mr T. Moscarda 3rd Grade
Mr L. Parker 4th Grade
Mr K. Prashanth Colts

Ms J. Emery A Grade Female Ms S. Harrington B Grade Female

A GRADE SCORER Mr D. Shelton

BANK National Australia Bank



Award Winners - Club

CHAMPION MALE CLUB CRICKETER - M.C. BOLTON SHIELD Hamish McKenzie

donated by the Bolton family

CHAMPION FEMALE CLUB CRICKETER - M.C. BOLTON PLATE

Nicole Bolton

donated by the Bolton family

BEST CLUBMAN - TONY CRANSTOUN MEMORIAL AWARD Phil Gregson

donated by Erik Carey

SPINE AWARD - GREG MASKIELL MEMORIAL AWARD Jess Emery

for Spirit, Performance, Involvement, Nature and Effort –

Donated by Greg Catlin

MOST IMPROVED MALE CRICKETER Michael Hart

donated by Larry Davies

MOST IMPROVED FEMALE CRICKETER Renae Bugg

donated by Larry Davies

YOUNG CRICKETER OF THE YEAR Matthew Sculthorpe

donated by Gianni Di Rosso

LIONESS (FEMALE YOUNG CRICKETER) OF THE YEAR Holly Appleby

donated by Gianni Di Rosso

THE RAY YOUNG FIRST GRADE BEST MALE PLAYER Hamish McKenzie

donated by Bolton Family

FIRST GRADE BEST FEMALE PLAYER Nicole Bolton

donated by Bolton Family



Holly Appleby 165 Runs @ 41.25

Award Winners - Playing

MALE

1st GRADE BATTING AWARD - A.D. DREW MEMORIAL TROPHY **Geremy Fatouros** donated by Scott McLean 745 @ 41.4 1st GRADE BOWLING AWARD - JOHN NICE MEMORIAL TROPHY Hamish McKenzie donated by Kevin Payne 58 Wickets @ 12.9 2nd GRADE BATTING AWARD - KARL PLAISTED MEMORIAL TROPHY Josh Parker 491 Runs @ 37.8 donated by Sam Pearce 2nd GRADE BOWLING AWARD Angus McKenzie donated by Stuart and Ruth McKenzie 27 Wickets @ 17.4 **3rd GRADE BATTING AWARD** Sam Reed donated by the O'Brien Family 290 Runs @ 32.2 **3rd GRADE BOWLING AWARD** Tom Moscarda donated by the Raven Family 30 Wickets @ 12.7 4th GRADE BATTING AWARD Jono Dean donated by Rachel and Andrew Wilson 405 @ 45.0 4th GRADE BOWLING AWARD Callum Stevenson donated by Rachel and Andrew Wilson 29 Wickets @ 11.6 **FEMALE** A GRADE BATTING AWARD Nicole Bolton donated by Bolton Family 574 Runs @ 63.8 A GRADE BOWLING AWARD Jessica Emery 25 Wickets @ 11.7 donated by Scott Mclean

B GRADE BATTING AWARD donated by Stuart and Ruth McKenzie

B GRADE BOWLING AWARD

Neha Prashanth

donated by Stuart and Ruth McKenzie

13 Wickets @ 11.6



President's Report

Season 2021/22 was without doubt the most successful year in the club's and its predecessor's long history. The platform for some stunning team performances was underpinned by the amazing work done by our selfless volunteers, excellent coaching staff and first-class training/playing facilities.

The highlights for the year were numerous, with some of the key ones being:

- Our first Male Club Championship win in 20 years, which is a great reward for all 44 players that represented the club each week
- Our first ever Female Club Championship award which reflected the significant improvements in the female program over the season
- Men's 1st Grade Premiers and One Day League Premiers
- Female A Grade 50 Over Premiers
- Runner up in the Men's 1st Grade T20 and 3rd Grade Grand Finals
- Significant improvements in our "Spirit of Cricket" ratings
- The stronger integration of the male and female parts of the club
- Strong performances by our U/14 and U/13 boys' teams
- The introduction of a very successful Winter Academy led by Gary Green and Lisa Griffith
- Hamish McKenzie's breakout season which culminated in him winning the Olly Cooley medal
- The continued development of an inclusive environment with a strong desire to improve and perform at our best and to enjoy ourselves at the same time

The highlights above would not have happened if not for the exceptional work done by our respective coaching teams. We are very lucky to have Wayne Clark as the Men's Head Coach and he was very ably supported by Swanny, Phil Gregson, Chris Isles, James Sansalone and Chris Hansberry. We were also very lucky to have Nicole Bolton take the reigns as the Female Head Coach, and as the season progressed, you could clearly see the positive impact she and her assistants (Lisa Griffith and Conor Moldrich) were having on the playing group.

I would also like to give a special mention to Gez Fatouros and Jess Emery who led their respective teams for the first time. The results speak volumes for the good work they did and the other captains throughout the club (Josh Parker, Tom Moscarda, Luke Parker and Steph Harrington) should also be proud of the important roles they played in winning the Club Champs.

The efforts of our tireless volunteers also need to be recognised. I would like to give special mentions to Phil Gregson, Stu McKenzie and Jordan Brock who all put in ridiculous hours for the betterment of the club. Andrew Sculthorpe and Calvin Ko did a fantastic job co-ordinating the juniors and some more special thanks to Sam Pearce and Dos for the major support they provide to me and the club. Once again, Larry Davies and Frank Collins did a great job as net captains for the guys and master chef Willo Snr continued to entice players to stay at the club on selection nights. Some of the good work done by Erik Carey will be seen from the start of next season with the opening of the new Alderbury change rooms. Many thanks also to Kim Morcom who continued in the important role of Child Safety Officer. Gus McKenzie continues to grow our social media presence and Jamie Collins / Jack Retallack showed great initiative to start the SFCC weekly podcast which was well supported. And thanks to Willo Jnr who managed all uniform related matters with minimal fuss and to the other committee members who were always willing to put their hand up to assist. I would like to sincerely thank all of the Committee for their efforts and ongoing support.



Our very loyal curator, Scott McLean continued to provide first class practice and match wickets with his efforts recognised by the top quartile ranking of Floreat Oval, despite dealing with the very heavy workload due to our club hosting both male and female fixtures. We are extremely fortunate to have these excellent facilities and to have a diligent and skilled curator.

Many thanks to the Town of Cambridge, WA Cricket, Cricket Australia, ACA, Whisk Creamery, Revo Fitness, the ARK Group, General Public, the Inglewood Hotel, Wembley Settlements, The Island at Elizabeth Quay, Image Seven, KC Australia, WOOM, Wembley Medical Centre, Trinix, Acton Real Estate and Challenge Chemicals for their ongoing support. All of these partners provide significant amounts of funding to the club and we would not exist without them. And thanks to Millie Monaghan for helping out with the administration of our sponsors.

Whilst COVID had only a minor impact on the games we played, it did unfortunately have an impact on some of the social and leadership program activities as we tried to minimise the risk of COVID impacting player availability as best we could. We were fortunate to have had Frank Collins step up as our COVID Officer and to help out in this and other areas, and hopefully we will see a return to more normal levels of social and leadership activities shortly.

I hope you are all as proud as I am of what everyone has achieved over the last season. It has been simply stunning and a year that will never be forgotten. It does however mean the bar is set very high for next season, but with the knowledge we still have plenty of areas where we can improve, I can't wait to see all of you again next season re-energised and ready to set new goals for the season ahead.

Greg Fitzgerald – President



The President celebrating premiership success with skippers Jess Emery and Gerry Fatouros



Coach's Report

Well, what a season & what a finale ... congratulations to each and every person involved at SFCC for an incredible effort throughout the year. The players' commitment and buy-in to our values has been elite. The expertise and efforts by our coaches has created an environment that has encouraged good skills, great work ethic, an attitude of belief, respect and importantly, enjoyment.

We started back in August and thanks to Junior in preparing our players for the season. His positive influence continued throughout, and he added so much to our success, on and off the field.

Noddy at Revo's through his sponsorship, again provided fantastic facilities for our early training and we thank him for his great support.

When a Club achieves what we have this year, it reflects a strength across all aspects of that Club and a few thankyous are needed.

To all players who have represented our Club, you should be extremely proud of your part in winning what I believe is the main aim of any club — The Club Championship. It reflects a strong culture, an excellent camaraderie, respect for others and of course great skills! A special thankyou to the captains for their strong leadership, taking ownership of their teams and helping uphold the values set by the playing group. To Gerry, Josh, Tom and Luke — well done!!! It's not an easy job with tough decisions required at times; but you all have performed with honesty and compassion, and it's been obvious to me, that the players and coaches have great respect for the job you have done!

The Coaches, a massive thankyou for your efforts all year. I don't think I've worked with a more committed group like this before. The vibe at training has always been positive and the commitment to the players, exemplary. Gavin, Phil, Chris & Jim - well done!! Our improvement on-field across all grades is no coincidence. Also, well done Jim with our T20 and Colts programs. This was the first year we have really had an extra focus and the results showed marked improvement and bodes well for next year.

Dos has for many-a-year, again done a great job around the club and as Chairman of Selectors. He's had a tough year in many ways, but his dedication is much appreciated.

To Larry Davies and Frank Collins, a special thank you for your contribution. The smooth running of training is an absolute credit to you both and I hope you have enjoyed seeing the success of the Club and the important role you have played in it.

Cricket is difficult without good wickets and top-notch training facilities – thanks Scotty. Not only for your effort with the facilities but for being a terrific supporter.

One thing we have tried to maintain is a strong club culture and a fun environment. Two guys who have gone "above and beyond the call of duty" are Willo and Stu. Their Thursday nights have become an institution, along with support on game days, which has a massive influence on the players – well done and thank-you.

Strong leadership is essential for any successful Club, and Fitzy and his committee have been fantastic! Congratulations to Greg for his recognition from the WACA, however I'm sure he will be the first to point out it needs many committed and selfless people within the Club to create a successful environment Great work!



I have restrained from mentioning specific players' efforts, as I believe that each and every member plays a role which is important to Club and individual team successes. Saying that, it's not often we have an Ollie Cooley medallist in our midst so, well done Hamish, well-deserved! It's been a terrific effort by you and your supportive team-mates.

Again, congratulations to everyone – it's been an extraordinary year and we should be proud of what we have achieved. It will of course be a little difficult to replicate a season like this, however there is no harm in giving it a red-hot crack!!!!!

Wayne Clark – Senior Coach



Subiaco-Floreat Cricket Club – Club Champions 2021-22



1st Grade Report

Double premiers. I don't think many would've thought that's how the SFCC 1st Grade would be described after a disappointing 20/21 season.

Reflecting on what was quite a spectacular season for the 1st Grade side, I dug into the numbers behind what felt like a gruelling 7 months of cricket. We played a total of 25 out of a possible 26 matches across all three formats, with the only fixture missing being round 1 due to an unfortunate rain off. Of these 25 matches we won 21 and lost 4, finishing the season with an amazing 100% win record at Floreat Park.

This season saw 3 debutants in in Matthew Sculthorpe and Tim Massey both coming in young and hungry and Bailey Gregson debuting against South Perth in a star studded T20 line-up.

Notable performances throughout the regular season included a return to grade cricket for international superstar Cameron Green with a comfortable 57, Chris Hansberry ageing like a fine wine with 56* and 3 wickets to get his season rolling and Hamish McKenzie spinning the side to victory with figures of 5/45.

Round 6 saw an important clash with a strong Perth side. Jayden Goodwin asserted his dominance with a classy 131 carrying the side to a mammoth total of 352. An all-round bowling performance meant a comfortable victory, notably with Matthew Sculthorpe taking the huge wicket of First Class batsmen Jon Wells in his figures of 2/32.

Round 8 brought an interesting clash with a Mount Lawley side at the top of their game. Winning the toss and bowling, Conor Moldrich quickly stole the show with a ridiculous 7/45, including 5 bowled dismissals and match figures of 9/63. Chasing a small total of 95, Ethan Chivers and Jayden Goodwin once again dominated at the top of the order with 56 for Ethan and 82 for Jayden. The rest of the order selflessly sacrificed their wickets in the search for quick runs and a hopeful outright. This win not only set us as serious contenders in the league but also displayed our team ethos of sacrificing individual performance for the better of the team.

Our final fixture before a well earnt Christmas break was Joondalup at home. A dominant victory with days out from Tim Monteleone (87* & 3/27), Aaron Lilly smacking them around for a classy 48 not out and Hamish McKenzie in the wickets again with 4/27.

First round back saw a comfortable victory against Scarborough, seeing Jayden Goodwin bring up his 2nd century of the season.

Round 12 took us to the beautiful Hillcrest Park. Batting first, we were in some trouble at 6/123 until Michael Hart strolled to the crease and took the game to Bayswater. A dominant 50 from Michael, 39 from Conor Moldrich and crucial 23* from number 11 batsman Matthew Sculthorpe scraped us to 268. A 4 wicket haul for Michael Hart and 5 wickets for Hamish McKenzie blew away the Bayswater batsmen, with yet another important win in our hunt for a finals berth.

Round 13 saw Rockingham Mandurah visit Floreat Park, a stunning century from Aaron Lilly (101*) posted us a below par total of 221. After some initial panic with Rockingham off to a fast start, young Tim Massey tore the match open with a stunning 5/16 off 6.1 overs. A crucial time to claim his first A grade 5 wicket haul!

Round 15 presented us with the opportunity to finish the regular season on top of the table. Unfortunately, we were 2nd best and finished the home and away season in a well-deserved 2nd place.

Onto the T20's....



A dominant win over South Perth in our first fixture saw us face Mount Lawley next, Mount Lawley posted 146 with a 4 wicket haul to international superstar Jason Behrendorff. A nail-biting chase came down to the last ball, with Subi requiring 2 to win off the last ball. Hamish McKenzie digging out a fantastic yorker with a then wayward throw from the Mount Lawley seamer seeing the ball race into the nets at Floreat for an all-time victory to Subi, effectively guaranteeing a QF spot. A comfortable victory over Midland in the quarter final saw us face Scarborough in the afternoon semi-final. Posting 118 batting first we felt we had enough on the board with a difficult pitch to bat on facing the Scarborough batsman. Their smiles quickly disappeared when a disciplined all round bowling performance held them to 87 off their 20 overs, taking us to another T20 Grand Final against Melville at the WACA.

With rain around and a delayed start, I unfortunately lost the toss seeing us batting first on a damp and tricky WACA wicket against a skilled Melville attack. A mature 47 off 46 balls from Jayden Goodwin took us to a total of 119 off our 20 overs. A difficult start with the ball, meant we had a huge task on our hands. Fantastic spells from Conor Moldrich and Chris Hansberry saw us take the game into the final over. With Melville requiring only a handful off the last over, we managed to take it to the penultimate ball where unfortunately the winning runs were scored. A valiant effort from the side to show courage and fight the whole 40 overs was only a sign of what was to follow.

A rematch against Melville quickly followed in the One Day Preliminary Final, eager to make a mend for the T20 result. The boys came out determined and posted a gritty total of 200, with a crucial 65 from Michael Hart and 25* from Matthew Sculthorpe giving us confidence going into the bowling. A team effort in the field and with the ball saw Melville bowled out for 160, meaning the Subi boys and supporters were off to the WACA for yet another Grand Final.

Losing another toss in a Grand Final meant Mount Lawley sent us in to bat on what was a tricky green WACA wicket. Ben Tredget anchored the innings with the bat making 57, while a lower order flourish by Michael Hart gave us the momentum finishing with 209 off our 50 overs. A fast start with the bat by Mount Lawley was quickly dampened by Conor Moldrich, picking up crucial top order wickets. A tense middle overs period was cracked open by the two young quicks – Tim Massey and Matthew Sculthorpe – each taking a massive wicket to keep us in the game. Thankfully for us, once Hamish McKenzie got the ball the game was all but over. A clinical 5/30 took away any chance Mount Lawley had of chasing our total down. A fitting end to a fantastic white ball season for the team. Bringing the One Day Premiership back to Floreat Park for the first time since 2013/14.

Needing to take our focus back to the red ball, we comfortably defeated Midland Guildford in an eightwicket victory. This saw us face a star-studded Willetton in the semi-final at Floreat. Willetton were dominant with the bat until, Chris Hansberry was thrown the ball (rather late in hindsight) and tore the game open with an incredible 7/45 off 18 overs to dismiss Willetton for 245. A nerve-wracking run chase saw us collapse from 5-230 to 9-238. Tim Massey walked to the crease along with Michael Hart needing to find 7 runs to take us to the WACA for the third time this season. With only 2 balls to spare Tim played a classic on-drive for the single that would secure us one of the great semi-final victories.

Driving in to the WACA for the third time in a matter of weeks, had the side filled with a sense of confidence. Facing a South Perth side who had finished on top of the table felt like a fitting way to end the season. Losing a third straight Grand Final toss, South Perth sent us in to bat. After some early struggles we consolidated to 3-97 until an incredible spell of bowling by the South Perth seamer saw us collapse all out for 118. Inspiring words from coach Wayne Clarke and Gavin Swan had the side believing we had enough runs on the board. The following couple of hours saw us turn the game around having South Perth 8-80 at the end of the day's play. Requiring a further 38 to win South Perth dug in, with



Michael Hart claiming the first wicket of the morning and his 6th of the innings we were within touching distance. Credit to South Perth's number 10 and 11 batsmen who dug in and inched their side closer to the total. With the score at 9-116 the South Perth batsman clipped it to fine leg looking for the two to tie the game and ultimately give South Perth the premiership. Tim Massey cut this to only a single with some magnificent fielding. With only one run needed for a South Perth victory, Michael Hart steamed in for his 23rd over of the innings and delivered the ball that was edged to Tim Monteleone at second slip to secure Subiaco-Floreat the premiership. A truly unbelievable victory that will remain in the memories for all involved for many years to come.

Topping off what was an amazing season for the 1st grade side, the club winning the Club Championship was the reward that each player worked tirelessly hard to achieve. I would like to congratulate each player, coach and supporter for playing their part in what was an incredible year for the Subiaco-Floreat Cricket Club.

Finally, our side would like to thank the Club's sponsors, Greg Fitzgerald, the coaches, and our supporters. Thank you to the two chef's Andrew Wilson and Stuart McKenzie who ensured we were well fed and hydrated before each game.

What a season.

Geremy Fatouros – Captain



First Grade Premiers 2021-22



2nd Grade Report

Coming off a very strong 2020/21 campaign, it is fair to say the SFCC 2nd grade side struggled to regain the consistency we like to be known for. Despite this, it has again been my pleasure to lead a side of high-quality individuals and I am proud of the way we continue to conduct ourselves, on and off the field.

After Rd 1 was rained out, we hosted University at home. In what was a very poor, losing performance for us. Respectability was saved only by the efforts of spin twins **Angus McKenzie** and **Andrew Nicholson**, both with bat and ball. The pair put on 75 for the 8th wicket (out of a total of 140) and took 5 wickets between them to take the second innings as deep as possible.

We won our next 5 games which included a very strong performance at Fremantle and an incredible finish at Perth! Down at Stevens Reserve, we posted a total of 241 in our first two dayer. **Aaron Lilly**, coming off 44* the week before, made a mockery of the Freo attack in a rapid, counterattacking 86. It was a special innings that included 17 boundaries! We bowled Freo out the next day with **Jack Retallack** demonstrating real skill with the swinging ball, taking 6/44.

The following game, defending only 166 at Perth, we were in the box seat with Perth 6/49 before a couple of partnerships took the game away from us. Perth were 8/162 with the two set batsman both on 40. We needed something special after letting the game slip and we got it. **Tim Massey** (4/20) sent down some genuine thunderbolts to knock over both set batsman and give us one of the great wins!

A dominant win over Claremont followed with **Tom Wilson** (74) and **Ben Parker** (51*) leading us to 305. Jack continued his strong start to the year with another 4 wickets. Mount Lawley beat us at home in the next fixture and it was again Tim Massey who dominated with the ball (5/42).

One of the performances of the season happened during our win at Willetton where **Kiran Prashanth** peeled off a classy innings of 89. Kiran worked through the gears, holding our innings together after a shaky start before expanding his shot making towards the back end. This included a series of remarkable lap scoops directly over his head. All this while playing injured on one knee - wild!

On one of the hottest days of the year, against Bayswater-Morley, Gus (6/104) and Nicho (1/85) put the boys on their shoulders and bowled 36 and 33 overs straight, respectively. It was a remarkable performance from both guys and despite ultimately losing this game, it is a moment we won't easily forget.

Jamie Collins marked his return to the side with a fluent 85 against Rockingham-Mandurah. He and Willo (57) put on 134 for the first wicket to set us up for a strong win. The highlight of this match however was surely **Ross Williams'** return to bowling where he picked up 3/22 including the prize wicket of former SFCC teammate, Ash Blake. Ash chipped the ball straight to mid-wicket, simultaneously exclaiming, "oh no!" – a very enjoyable moment.

Needing to win our last two games of the year to lock in finals, unfortunately not even a classy **Ethan Chivers** 106 could take us to victory against Wanneroo. And so we required a win in our last game and hoped that Wanneroo could account for University. While we recovered from 5/51 to win our fixture against Melville, Wanneroo lost 5/8 to lose the unlosable by 7 runs and unfortunately end our season.

Though not the year we had hoped for, there were many highlights and strong individual performances. Aaron started the year with 196 runs from 5 innings to earn a recall to the 1st grade side. Jack and Tim also forced their way into the top side with consistent early season bowling performances. **Ben Massey** and **Angus McKenzie** (27 wickets) were, as usual, extremely dependable with the ball all season.

Tom Wilson again impressed with the gloves, with 28 dismissals (2nd in the competition) and together with top order partner, **Guy Taylor** formed a consistent opening partnership.



We enjoyed contributions through the year from team favourites **Declan Evans** and **Cory Bradnam** while special mention goes to **Maxwell Hinch** who was our sole debutant this year and finished our season with a bullet direct hit run out from the boundary. He said his shoulder was about to fall off so was resting at fine leg, go figure!

Despite a disappointing end for our side, a number of us were fortunate to be a part of a successful 1st grade campaign while the rest of our team remained engaged and committed to assisting and celebrating in the success of our entire club.

At SFCC we truly do enjoy the best facilities in the competition, and we thank our generous sponsors, committee, coaching staff and curator, Scotty who make this club what it is. As a team, we especially thank Stuart McKenzie and Andrew Wilson who continue to provide a special culinary experience every Thursday night. We thank Phil Thompson who again supported the team with expert statistical analysis. Phil announced he was hanging up the pen after this season however we hope this is just a temporary break and look forward to having Phil support us again next season! Finally, we acknowledge the contribution of our Net Captains, Larry Davies and Frank Collins. Thank you both for running such a tight ship at training and for doing your best to give me a hit before it gets dark!

Enjoy the off season and I look forward to introducing a future lion/lioness to the Den in 2022/23.

Josh Parker - Captain



Gus and Jack, with their Chopper Read impersonations



3rd Grade Report

What an outstanding season from the club! To win the Club Championships for the first time in 20 years is an amazing result and great reward for everyone's hard work. Congratulations to all!

Congratulations continue on to Olly Cooley Medallist, Hamish McKenzie. An outstanding season and no doubting there are bigger things ahead! Dunny for being crowned Coach of the Year and Fitzy for Administrator of the Year. All well-deserved accolades. To Gerry and his lads, congratulations on your season and flags – a super effort! To Jess and the girls, congratulations on your flag and season! It's set the bar pretty high for the coming seasons.

It was a super season from the 3's and it was great to skipper them once again. The hunger lingered from the previous season and this saw improvement in most facets of our game. We chased scores down for the majority of the season, some in brutal fashion, some down to the last couple overs of the game.

What stood out from game one onwards was the buy in from every player – to play their role and do whatever it took to get the win. We had a heap of fun throughout the year and this was a driving factor in our success and the closeness of the group. For 18 games straight, we had a team breakfast prior to the game, with an average of 9 players attending each week. Post-game banter, segments and initiatives continued at a level I've never seen before, further bonding the group. Come game time, the boys were able to flick the switch and perform with outstanding focus and competitiveness.

Our bowling unit was a force once again with all bowlers sharing the load, with 6 players taking 15 wickets or more. Cory Bradnam with the new ball led the attack from game 1 to game 18, taking key wickets at the top of the order to set us up well. His season consisted of his first 5-fa (remarkably), with a total of 29 wickets at a super average of 10.34 – leading the 3rd grade competition averages. Congratulations on a great season, Cory!

Sam Reed, promoted to the top of the batting order, flourished in his new role. He was able to withstand the new ball with steely determination and this was shown in a number of his knocks where he won us the game by putting great value on his wicket. His season comprised of 290 runs at 32.22, but it was his leadership and calm head that was equally as impressive. Congratulations on a great season, Sammy!

Other outstanding players included Jamie Collins (264 runs @ 33 and 21 wickets @ 13.38) and Mitch Adamos (228 runs @ 22.80 and 15 wickets at 18.47). We saw some outstanding performances from Bailey Gregson in his 3 games (257 runs @ 128.50) and all-rounder status to Sravan Sivashanker (156 runs @ 26, 15 wickets @ 22). These guys stood up in big moments and delivered when it counted most. Well done on all your seasons.

The final just didn't go our way against a good side. To only put 128 on the board was disappointing. Another 40 or 50 and we would have been confident of victory. Tatenda Makova and Srav put on a good partnership to get us past 100 and then Cory and Jamie did their very best with the ball, we were just a bit short of runs, as we have been in previous seasons. Playing in three finals for such a young group would have provided some great experience and I hope this spurs the group on to the flag in coming seasons.

A few thankyous to finish with. Fitzy, Dos and the committee for their support and hard work behind the scenes. Dunny for his guidance, experience and knowledge once again. Larry and Covid officer Frank for their fine work at training. Stu and Willo for again looking after the teams on a Thursday evening. Phil and Swanny for their wisdom and outstanding work with all the players. All the sponsors who have supported the club through a difficult period. If we didn't have these people and their support, we wouldn't be in the position we're in — so thankyou to all!



One last big thankyou to the 3's boys who raised the bar this season and made it a pleasure to be involved. To Ross, Srav, Brodie who ran warm-ups, to Dec who kept everyone in line on and off the field, Ross for stepping in as interim skipper again and the many boys who showed outstanding leadership from start to finish...always putting the team first. Thanks for your great work which made it a memorable year.

The hard work continues as we strive for a premiership and further club success.

Look after yourselves.

Tom Moscarda – Captain



4th Grade Report

In a year that delivered club success everywhere you looked SFCC was in the enviable position of having a plethora of players looking for a game; a luxury and a conundrum in equal measure.

With at times as many as 20 players competing for 11 4th grade spots, all players who took to the field in the 4's this year should be commended for the persistence, patience and club spirit they displayed throughout the season. It isn't easy to accept that competition for spots is tight and that opportunities to prove yourself may be weeks in the making, so it is a testament to the 4th grade 'squad' that so many chose to dig in for the season, being active participants in the club regardless of the team make-up in any given week.

With so many players available we of course welcomed new talent into the 4's with the bowling cartel of Zaine Welsh, Piers Kirk and Michael Reynolds joining the club. SFCC's strong track record of developing young talent was again evident in the form of 'home grown' talents stepping up into seniors such as Jackson Schulze (who finished the year in 3rd grade), Nathan Murphy, Jamie Williams, Duncan Bent, Thomas Hopwood and Louis Clayton.

It is at this point I'd like to highlight the individual development and success of a number of players who have been consistent contributors to 4th grade over a number of years and who this year spent increased amounts of time up the grades, being Matthew Swain, Tatenda Makova, Maxwell Hinch and Joey Betts. Though the team felt the loss of the experience and leadership these players have provided in recent years, it is pleasing to see their hard work rewarded and each of them take the increased challenge of higher grades in their stride.

The Fours finished the 2021/2022 season in 8th, delivering 7 wins during the 14 game season. Whilst winning every game is clearly the main objective, it was pleasing to see the team learn from every loss. Having started the year with only 2 wins from 6 games the team learnt the importance of batting our overs, particularly given the strength of our bowling unit headlined by Callum Stevenson (29 wickets @ 11.5), Welsh (22 wickets @14.3), Kirk and Reynolds.

In Round 7 we put our learnings into practice posting a day one total of 6/382 against Claremont Nedlands punctuated by 132 run opening stand (Schulze 57) followed by 154 runs for the second wicket before Thomas Hacker departed for 135 from 235 balls. It is difficult to decide whether Hacker's patient knock at the top took out best innings of the day or if that award goes to Jonathan 'Jonno' Dean for his 115 of only 87 balls.

A convincing Round 7 win was followed by an equally mature 88 run victory against Mt Lawley. The team again batted first and applied themselves, scoring 238 from their full allotment of overs. Swain top scoring with 72 in what would be his second and last game of fours for the year and Callum Stevenson cementing his credentials as an all-rounder chalking up a defiant 50 after coming to the crease with the team 7/139. Stevenson was ably helped by Reynolds (25 runs) in an entertaining final wicket stand of 40 which reinforcing to the boys the notion that we all have an important role to play, regardless of batting position.

Round 9 saw us close out an impressive run into Christmas and the mid-season break, with the 4s one-wood, its bowling strength, coming to the fore with a ferocious display of quick bowling which saw us defend 151 using only four bowlers. Kirk, Stevenson and Welsh each took 3 wickets as we knocked over Joondalup for 91 (having been 4/11 at one stage). To so comprehensively bowl out a side that would eventually play finals signals what might have been for this group, had some other results fallen our way.



Having started slowly, the 4s went into the season break with a 5 win / 4 loss record and sitting in the top six.

Unfortunately, a tough run home saw the 4s falter in the new year with us facing 3 of the top 5 teams to close out the year. Wins against Rockingham and Melville were not enough for us to keep our finals spot, however the team put up spirited fights against both Bayswater-Morley and Wanneroo, the top two teams for the year.

Having posted 214 against top-side Bayswater-Morley (Murphy 35, Reynolds 37 and Welsh 33), the boys came out firing with the ball as Cameron O'Brien and Welsh had the visitors on the back foot at 5/65. Unfortunately, a heavy hitting 100 and a 111 run 6th wicket partnership took the game out of our grasp as we were reminded that patience with the ball is vital in 2-day cricket.

Similarly, our game against Wanneroo was an opportunity that went begging. Having been set a target of 227 from 45 overs after some loose bowling early from the Lions, we set out with a positive mindset though lost early wickets. With the score on 4/67, Joey Betts walked to the crease and took a liking to the Wanneroo bowlers. His score of 97 off 70 balls (14 4s & 2 6s) took the Lions within striking distance with Betts departing just short of what would have been a well-deserved 100 with the team at 7/175. Unfortunately, the tail could not quite get the job done as we were left disappointed in not being able to replicate the disciplined bowling and mature approach to batting that underpinned the best of our year.

Overall, the fourth grade's 21/22 season displayed that the club continues to foster and develop a pool of talent that leaves plenty to be excited about.

As captain it would be remiss of me not to call out the contributions of Jonno Dean throughout the year. Jonno temporarily returned to Perth from Melbourne for 75% of the season and topped our batting for the year. In addition to his on-field performances Jonno was a fantastic support to me as skipper, taking an active role in game day leadership and selflessly putting aside ambitions to play the higher levels we all know he is capable of, in order to act as a senior player for a young fourth grade side. We look forward to the day life brings Jonno back to Perth to be a full time Lion once again.

Finally, to all those who came down to support the 4s on game day or took an active interest in the development of our players, on behalf of the entire side, thank you – your support is very much appreciated.

Luke Parker - Captain



Colts Report

This season in the Colts we had a variety of experience within the side, including a few players who were part of the unforgettable back-to-back Colts flags in seasons 2018/19 and 2019/20, as well as a number of players stepping onto the field for their first time in the Colts competition.

Looking to bounce back from last year's loss in the quarter final, the boys were keen on getting an early win on the board in our first game against South Perth at Richardson Park. Maxwell Hinch set the tone early with the bat with a quick fire 32 including 6 boundaries, taking full advantage of the powerplay. Jamie Collins anchored the remainder of the innings with everyone else chipping in around him to pose a score of 142. Opening up with Tim Massey and Matthew Sculthorpe with the ball, the boys were eager to strike to get a few early wickets but on a flat deck this posed more difficulties than first anticipated. At 1-64, South Perth looked like they were getting away. However, South Perth's momentum with the bat was quickly stunted when Andy Nicholson took the ball. Andy was the pick of bowlers with figures of 2-11 off his 4 overs, including knocking over their skipper first ball with his trademark quicker ball. At 4-64 the game was right in the balance. Due to the disciplined bowling of the remainder of bowlers, in the end South Perth found themselves short by 15 runs.

With the momentum from the first game, the boys were eager for another win against Mount Lawley to secure a spot in finals. After a shaky start, being 2-19, a crucial partnership between Jamie and Guy Taylor saw us scramble together a defendable score of 119. The game looked like it could go either away for the entirety of the Mount Lawley innings. It all came down to the last over, with only 3 runs to play with, Tim Massey took the ball. Things didn't go to plan early on with a couple of wides in the over and the score being tied. However, tension grew as Tim proceeded to beat the bat for the next 5 balls. Unfortunately, they were able to sneak a single on the last ball of the innings resulting in our first loss.

Not held down from our previous loss, the boys were pumped for our final game against Midland-Guildford. With a spot in finals up for grabs, this was a do-or-die game for both teams. With Matthew Sculthorpe dismissing their opener in the first over, we were off to a dream start with the ball. With another economical spell from Andy, going for just 13 off his 4 overs, as well as 3 wickets from the newest addition to the side, Jayden Goodwin, we were able to keep them to a score of 115. With less than a runa-ball to chase, we found ourselves in a strong position to win the game. However, things were not looking great after getting off to another less than ideal start being 3-17. Midland-Guildford's hopes of making finals, however, were diminished by a ruthless innings from both Jayden and Jamie. An unbeaten 100 run partnership (Jayden 59* and Jamie 39*) led the boys to victory and secured us a spot in the quarterfinal.

The quarterfinal against Melville proved to be our most challenging game. On paper, the sides looked relatively evenly matched, and the game proved exactly that. After a steady opening partnership and disciplined batting throughout their innings, Melville finished with a score of 160, with the pick of the bowlers yet again being Andy Nicholson with 3-18 off his 4 overs. After losing an early wicket, a 104 run 2nd wicket partnership between Ethan Chivers and Jayden Goodwin put us in a strong position to win the game. With the two set batsmen being dismissed, the game looked like it was over if not for a couple of late bombs from both Jamie and Guy. With the game coming down to another last-ball thriller, needing 3 runs to win, we only managed to scrape a single resulting in a 1 run loss which, unfortunately, marked the end of our Colts campaign.

As good as it would have been to go on to make the grand final and win another Colts flag, I couldn't be prouder of the boys' efforts this year. I think each individual that stepped onto the field gave it their all when the opportunity presented itself and as a captain that's exactly what you want to see. I'd also like to give a big thank you to Jim Sansalone for taking on the role as head coach for the Colts, the knowledge and experience he brings is invaluable and I'm sure all the boys took a lot away from this and were able to further develop their skills.



For some of us this was our last year of Colts and I know this wasn't the way we would've liked to cap off the end of our journey in Colts but, although we didn't win a flag, I think we still had a really successful season and can take a lot away from it. I would like to commend all the players that stepped onto the field for the Subi Colts this year for their efforts both on and off the field. Every game was played at a high standard and in good spirit. With the young talent coming through the club, I have no doubt that this squad has the potential to win the competition in the years to come.

Enjoy the off-season

Kiran Prashanth - Captain



Under 17s Report (Hussey Shield)

The season started with a T20 after losing the first weekend of cricket to the elements. This doesn't happen that often, however the previous season when our opponents were also Midland-Guildford, we abandoned a game without a ball being bowled...lesson to be learnt from this, don't play MG early in the season.

After losing 5 of our first 6 matches the spirit in the squad was still very positive, and although we had started poorly, we could have been 5 and 1 the other way around quite easily. Inconsistent batting was our downfall, and it was always left to our bowling and fielding to try and get us out of a hole.

The Christmas break could have come at the wrong time for us as we beat a Joondalup side just before the break. The short break however enabled us to gain some momentum and the team went on an extraordinary run that saw them win 7 out of their last 9 games and the two they lost both went to the last over of the match.

The defeat against Bayswater Morley in January actually defined our season, a win would have propelled us into the top 6, whereas a defeat would leave us in 9th or 10th. We lost in the last over after a remarkable bowling effort that nearly got us out of jail.

In all we played 9 T20 games this season, which was far too many and didn't encourage any development of the players. From those 9 games we won 7 of which we lost our first and last encounters of the season. A win of 7 on the bounce is a great effort. However, the 50 over cricket paints a different picture, 1 win from 6 and I believe that the reason for this is the switching from one format to another on a bi-weekly basis.

The longer form of cricket has to be promoted for Juniors, especially the Under 17s, whose next step will be Senior Grade cricket.

A T20 Comp in the warmer months of December and January should be pushed for that runs separately to the main competition. I am sure that this will benefit all players involved.

We had some consistent performers again this season, 9 scores of 50 or more but no one going on to a century. Louis Clayton had 3 scores of 50 and Nathan Murphy had 2.

From a bowling point of view, we had 9 players take 5 or more wickets throughout the season, which is a great effort. Louis Clayton was the top performer with the ball, taken 19 wickets. James Hart also performed consistently well with 9 wickets. Kieran Rakich is certainly one for the future within the senior ranks. A great leg spin bowler who will only get better with enhanced coaching. Blake Davies was a great role model when he was around the group and I am certain he will do very well for the club next season in the Senior ranks, along with Jack Foster and Tom Hopwood.

As a captain Louis matured as the season progressed and his handling of the team and the responsibilities certainly didn't affect his own performances. He finished the season as Champion Player for the Ted Hussey Shield competition, which as a first year 17's player is a remarkable effort.

As we move towards another season, I look forward to seeing this group of players reach their potential. We have, just this week, lost some players we would have wanted to retain, but the offer of senior cricket combined with the Junior cricket has lured them away. I am excited for the new season and am filled with many ideas that I believe will help to ensure we are in contention next season.

We have had some challenges this season, however the team spirit and the support of Bhupesh Kalia as the manager, and the combined efforts of Andrew Sculthorpe and Calvin Ko, have ensured that we had some successes and look forward to a healthy season next year.



I would also like to acknowledge the help and support of Guy Taylor (GT) and Hamish McKenzie (Chief), and Craig Lubich, without whom training would have been a whole different experience for the boys. They gave up their time and their input was invaluable, so 'Thank you' to them all, a World Class effort. Mike Dighton also assisted with some sessions, which again was appreciated.

I am excited to be welcoming the 15's boys of this season into the squad next year and know there are some exceptional talents within that group that will make the 17's for the 2022/23 season a real force within the competition.

Graeme Clayton – Coach



Under 15s Report (Mann Shield)

Going into this season I was unsure how it would shape up, especially with so much T20 cricket in the fixtures. We went into the season with a definite focus on developing good Subi-Floreat cricketers but trying to balance that with winning games of cricket. We started with a squad of 15 with quite a few lacking confidence to play with freedom.

We managed to have early success sitting in 2nd place going into the Christmas break. Some of the highlights were a comfortable win over Grand Finalists, Fremantle and solid performances against Gosnells, Mt Lawley and Claremont-Nedlands.

Our game against eventually winners Perth was the one performance that set us up for our early success. In a game that the scorebook suggests we were soundly beaten. Perth posted a huge 8-264 but that could have been even more after 2 of their top order batsmen got away from us. To our credit we persevered and managed some late wickets to restrict their total. Going into such a big run chase the boys were intimidated by the total but once we started breaking the game down into partnerships and building the innings rather than going hard at it from the start they started to see light at the end of the tunnel. We started with an opening partnership of 39 between Xavier Torre and Tristan Hearmon, followed by another 40 run partnership between Tristan and Charlie Watson. 2 quick wickets could have seen us capitulate but another 54 run partnership between Tristan and Jack Botsis had us going again. Standing at square leg for most of the chase it was pleasing to see the boys building a chase. You could feel Perth starting to worry. Unfortunately, we couldn't keep the momentum and eventually the pressure of a large total got to us. We finished at 207. Our first 200+ score for the year.

Even though we were comfortably beaten, we learned some good lessons and took the positives and gained some confidence in ourselves and from that point we posted scores of 202, chasing down 182 against Claremont-Nedlands and 238, chasing down 170 against Mt Lawley before we won a close T20 against Joondalup to start the Christmas break.

From this point our performances fell away before we lost 9 of our 15 players to PSA. We used this time to blood some U14s and a couple of U13s as well. U14s player Oscar Willis managed 6 wickets at 10.67 (our best bowling average) in his 3 games as well as some handy lower order runs.

Some notable individual performances for the year, Owen Bower's 3/19 against Gosnells in a close win. Will Malajczuk, 65 off 61 against Fremantle in a T20. Tristan Hearmon, 75 against Perth. Charlie Watson, 53 and 1/21 and Eddie Busby 95no against Claremont Nedlands. Jack Holt 85 and 2/16 and Cy Dyson 42 off 28 and 1/24 against Mt Lawley. Will Malajczuk 44 off 42 against Centurions. Padraig Munt 40 no off 42 against Willetton. Oscar Willis, 4/23 against Rockingham-Mandurah. Tristan Hearmon 3/12 against Melville.

A big thank you to Leigh Malajczuk for being the team Manager for the year. He was on top of everything through the season and made life as Coach much easier. Ben Tredget, who coached and mentored the boys. Having a person like him in the group lifted the team and helped me infinitely. Also, thank you to the parent group for your support over the course of the season.

At the conclusion of the season, it felt like an opportunity missed as a team but individually everyone contributed at various times during the year, improved and further developed as cricketers. I'm sure heading into U17s next season they will flourish even further and become a solid core of Subi-Floreat cricketers for years to come.

Simeon Botsis - Coach



Under 14s Report (McKenzie Shield)

The 2021/22 season was a major success for the U14 team, despite continual injury adversity throughout. Once again, our goal as a playing group was to see improvement in all four facets of the game (bowling, batting, fielding and mental). Last year's U13s led the way with a fantastic work ethic that was contagious amongst the group. The boys' attitude towards training and desire to improve resulted in each player making significant improvements in their game. In combination with the joy these boys have for each other's success, I believe we are not only developing great young cricketers but even better young men.

In terms of the season, we were able to make the semi-final which was a fantastic reward for the boys' efforts. The improvement in the playing group was reflected in the variety of individual performances we had this season with both bat and ball. As a team, we stuck to our plans and batted, bowled, and fielded as a unit. A number of injuries were unfortunate but helped to provide opportunities which a number of players took advantage of. I think the highlight of the season was the boys win against Scarborough. Our effort with the ball and in the field displayed the qualities and characteristics that a senior side would have been proud of. The never give up attitude and ability to remain calm towards the end of the game was outstanding. Both Jackson Cattalini and Will Malajczuk show fantastic leadership qualities and maturity at times beyond their years. Oscar Willis had a breakthrough season with the bat, scoring 224 runs @ 74.67 along with Aidan Carberry who scored 155 runs @ 25.83.

I look forward to still being involved with the team in some capacity as they continue to progress through the junior ranks. I am excited for what the future holds for all 14 members who have the capacity to be valuable members of the club in the years ahead. I would like to whole heartedly thank Ben Cattalini for his outstanding effort as team manager over the past two years. Clubs simply don't function without selfless volunteers such as Ben. I would also like to thank and acknowledge the efforts of Sophie Kalia, Calvin Ko and Andrew Sculthorpe throughout the season for all the work they do behind the scenes.

Tom Wilson - Coach



Under 13s Report (Inverarity Shield)

I had the good fortune of taking over the Under 13's coaching role for season 2021/22, as a coach I could not have been prouder and more impressed with the maturity, growth and improvement that I saw in each individual player and the team over the course of the season. At the start of the season, we set out some goals and criteria to stick to as a unit, it was whittled down to three consistent messages:

- 1. Strive to improve, learn, fail, and succeed as individuals and as a team.
- 2. Be understanding and accepting of decisions and selections made over the course of the season.
- 3. To have fun, always enjoy each other's company and back our teammates.

I can categorically say that these were stuck to over the course of the season, and I have no doubt that our discipline and willingness to do so was one of the major contributing reasons to our success. Collectively, the enjoyment shown by each player for their teammates' success contributed to the positive team culture, learning environment, and foundation for friendships that was built.

The way that the boys applied themselves at training, and their appetite for improvement not only saw progression this season but is something I am sure that will see them rewarded further over their cricket journey if they continue with this attitude.

In terms of the season, we remained undefeated through the home and away fixtures, with only a rain interrupted match preventing us from winning all seven matches in comprehensive fashion. It seems unfair to single out individuals in what was an incredibly strong team, but there were some moments and individuals that need recognition. There is one moment that makes me immensely proud, and that was the numerous selfless acts to help get Heath Mellody to his first half century for the club, Koby Ashford in noble fashion ran himself out without facing a ball to help give Heath the opportunity to reach this milestone. This selfless and team first attitude is what makes great teams and great teammates and is something I implore every player from this group to continue with. Our bowling efforts this season also reflect the team first attitude, with every bowler buying into a simple game plan of bowling as many dot balls as possible and building pressure on the batsman. Ben Furlong was the prime example of this, who would come on in the middle overs as a leg spin bowler, tie up an end and pick up wickets along the way, allowing bowlers to operate at the other end under little pressure. One aspect of our game that we emphasised consistently was to win the fielding battle, which we did in almost every match, our concentration and skill level in the field was exemplary and set the standard for the competition, this was led by Jake Carlson, Koby Ashford and Sam Malajczuk.

I would like to thank the efforts of Calvin Ko, who made my job as coach an easy and enjoyable experience by running an incredibly tight ship. The effort that Calvin puts in not only for this team, but for junior cricket as a whole is commendable, and the club is in safe hands going forwards with people like this involved. I would also like to thank Andrew Sculthorpe and Sophie Kalia for their tireless efforts to help junior cricket over the course of the season. And lastly, well done to the boys, I can't wait to see how you progress not only as cricketers but as young men around the club.

Angus McKenzie - Coach



Female Coach's report

Taking on the reigns of the SFCC Female Program was always going to be a challenge for myself as I have never run a program before and had little experience in coaching players. All I wanted to do was bring in some of the things I have learnt throughout my career and what I thought would not only enhance the development of the players but provide an environment where they wanted to keep coming back. We have never been blessed with numbers, but I was impressed by the commitment of the girls to come to training every Wednesday and even optional training on a Thursday. Having 15+ girls coming to training was something I have never experienced at my time at SFCC and it made for more purposeful sessions that were led exceptionally well by our senior group.

As was the case last year, the T20 format is a growth area for this group and something I am looking at exploring more as it is the most challenging part of the season with players missing and double ups occurring. Both grades were able to play to their capabilities at various stages throughout the competition, but one thing stood out to me and that was finding consistency within the makeup of the teams. Special mention must go to Megan **Banting** for again showing her class in this format and being rewarded for the overall WA Premier Cricket T20 Female Player of the Year for amassing 214 runs at an average of 42.8. **Jackie Naidoo** was ever dependable with the ball taking 9 wickets at 18.4 with a merely economy rate of 4.74. **Evelyn Brock** was a clear standout in the B grade competition with 131 runs at an average of 18 finishing the 7th highest run scorer for the season. This is a testament to the work Evelyn has done throughout the year and her drive to want to get better.

As has always been the case with the SFCC Female Teams, we have always been a solid 50 & 40 over team. This was again evident throughout the season as the A grade team remained undefeated for the entire competition culminating in the flag. What become true to me was the girls desire to get better, take on feedback and rectify any learnings from the previous game. The A grade side has developed a 'brand' and a way of keeping one another accountable. The way different players stepped up throughout the season was a sign that we had shifted to becoming a premier cricket team and we had standards and expectations around what it meant to play A grade cricket for Subi. **Jess Emery** really emerged as the leader I knew she could be during this stage of the season, not just for her on-field performances but the way she led the team off-field. It brought the best out of her as a player as she then went on to take 8/14 against Melville and she really did not take a backward step from there taking 22 wickets for the season to be the leading wicket taker for the competition. Another special mention goes to **Millie Monaghan** for her gutsy half century against Melville in the same game to help guide her team to a total we could defend. What was really pleasing was our clinical performances in the final where everyone played their role with Jess being crowned player of the final which really enhanced the celebrations later that evening.

Regarding B grade, we again struggled to find consistency in our team make-up for various reasons, but I cannot fault the girls turning up week in and week out wanting to get better and wanting to play cricket with their mates. We finally saw a clear progression from players being able to move up the grades and rewarding them based on their performances. An example of this was 16-year-old Renee Bugg moving up to open the bowling for the A grade side and taking her first 5 wicket haul for the team against South Perth. Different players at various stages put their hands up and that is a sign of the development within the B grade team. It is not about them making up the numbers it is about rewarding players for performing and making them feel comfortable in making the step up. An amazing thing to see was 15-year-old Olivia McSweeney progress from Youth League to B grade to eventually being a part of the A grade team that won the final. Another amazing feat was Holly Appleby, another 15-year-old, finally getting permission to play in the senior competition. What a story this is as she became the 4th highest run scorer for the entire competition as an opening bat and showed everyone what she can do. The group again showed what they are capable of by making their highest score of the season in the last round and beating a side that was challenging for the finals.



A great part of being a coach is seeing the development of players first but also seeing their faces when they get the call up to play at the next level. For **Charis Bekker** and **Jackie Naidoo** this was a special moment for these two as well as the whole club as we have not had a state representative come out of Subi for a while. These two were able to make their much-anticipated debut and it was one of the proudest moments for all involved in their journey as cricketers.

I would like to finally take this opportunity to thank firstly the club for giving me this opportunity to run the female program, the support you have given to me throughout the season has been incredible and I am extremely grateful. Massive thank you to Jordan Brock for his tireless efforts behind the scenes in making sure everything runs smoothly and always being available to assist in whatever needed doing at the time, we are extremely lucky to have you as a huge part of this club and program. Finally, to Lisa and Connor, Lisa particularly for your efforts in running the Winter Academy for the girls in the early hours of the morning during winter, you played such a vital role in the start of their journey this season then again with your time in taking 1:1s to continue to help to develop these girls' skills. Connor, what a man, running the program while I was away, coaching Buggy to a 5 fa and then having enough time in the week to do training yourself, do your job, spend time with the Ms. and celebrate 2x flags.... it has been a bloody big year for you. You always came to help, show your support and you gave 100% all the time to this program. I am glad we all got to know you as a person and how integral you were to the overall success of the program.

Nicole Bolton - Coach



Female A Grade 50 Over Premiers 2021-22



Female A Grade Report

The 2021/22 season was quite the year, with its own unique challenges and opportunities that finished in success. I believe that it was one of the stronger and more robust squads we have had in A grade in my time at the club.

We were very fortunate to have a number of state players represent the club, with Nicole Bolton, Maddy Darke, Jacqueline Naidoo, Charis Bekker, Lisa Griffith and Heather Graham donning the yellow and maroon in A grade this season. We were particularly proud of home-grown Jackie and Charis making their state debuts this season, with late-call ups to the extended WA WNCL team. This was undoubtedly the first season of many for those girls. It was also very valuable for the wider female program to have the opportunity to train and play with our state players, particularly in the second half of the season, due to the delayed WNCL fixture. I'd like to thank all the state players for their willingness to share their knowledge to help grow our whole squad.

The 2021/22 season also saw a significant shake up to our coaching team, with Nicole Bolton stepping up to be head coach as well as Conor Moldrich and Lisa Griffith coming on as assistant coaches. The structures and knowledge that this team shared was at a very high level and invaluable to the playing group. I would also like to acknowledge Jordan Brock, our manager, who again worked tirelessly to help facilitate the entire female program at SFCC.

The T20 season (W, L, L, L, L, L, W, W):

The T20s have historically been the format where we have struggled and that proved again to be true. For most of the season we struggled with scoring at a high enough run rate to set or chase bigger scores, which wasn't helped with unavailability of power hitters due to the WBBL or personal reasons. In the last two matches we were able to regain some of those players and finish off the season with some wins. I would like to thank Millie Monaghan who stepped up to captain when I was away, and who led from the front with the bat.

The 50 over season (W, W, W, W, W, W, W, P):

After Christmas, we had a dominant 50 over season that culminated in a premiership win. Throughout the season we performed well with both bat and ball, and although at times we were challenged, we always responded to get the win. The biggest highlight of this was that it was not always the same player who stood up, instead most girls played the match defining role at some point. This meant that from a captain's perspective, I felt comfortable going to any member of the team to get us a wicket to break a partnership or score some runs to create a partnership. The shared responsibility across the season held us in great stead for the Grand Final, which I believe was the real difference between the two teams on the day.

The standout individual performances are listed below:

T20:

Round 1 – N Bolton 100 (63); J Naidoo 4/7 off 4.0

Round 2 – H Graham 81 (46)

Round 3 – Y Lim 4/18 off 3.0

Round 8 – M Banting 59 (46)

50 Over:

Round 1 – M Darke 70 (95); M Banting 64 (90); C Bekker 4/23 off 7.0



Round 2 – L Nicholson 4/29 off 10.0; M Banting 99* (112)

Round 3 - M Monaghan 60 (121); J Emery 8/14 off 9.1

Round 4 - J Emery 4/11 of 5.2

Round 5 - M Darke 78 (115)

Round 6 - R Bugg 5/36 off 8.1

Round 7 - N Bolton 120 (95) and 3/7 off 7.0

Round 8 - N Bolton 112 (105)

Grand Final – J Emery 4/31 off 9.4; N Bolton 54 (51)

We continued our award for the "Lioness of the Year", as voted in a 3-2-1 system by our players in each grade after matches, based on who they believe best represented our values. Our values were selected by the female senior playing group at the beginning of the year and were Commitment, United, Respect and Enjoyment. The Lioness of the Year award went to Holly Appleby this season. Holly is a very deserving winner of this award who was a mainstay in our B grade team this year even though she on age should be playing in the Under 17s Youth League. Even though she is younger, you wouldn't know it, with the way see goes about her cricket and how well she fits in to the group. Congratulations to Holly and it is a great sign for the program that one of our younger players has won this award.

I would just like to finish off by thanking the committee, the female coaching/managing group and all the players at the club for a great year. It has been a great honour to be captain of the A Grade women's team this year and I look forward to doing it again in the future (if chosen). I would also like to congratulate all the other teams for their great seasons and recognise the welcoming and united attitude the entire club has had this year across all the male and female teams.

Jess Emery - Captain



Male and Female Premiers 2021-22, celebrating at Floreat Oval – the home of cricket



Female B Grade Report

The 2021/2022 B grade season had a lot of memorable moments and I am looking forward to taking the momentum of winning our last game into the next season. Our team had lots of banter and fun energy which was always something that I looked forward to every weekend. The Subi Lionesses had quite a few changes to the team list, however everyone who was listed to play that week put in a great effort and it was enormously rewarding seeing the growth throughout the season. I'm looking forward to continuing to develop our skills and look to win a few more games next season. We have a lot of exciting youngsters coming through the youth program, so it is pleasing to see them excel in B Grade.

This year was a big learning curve for me, as it was the first time I started captaining, which I am grateful for the opportunity and all the help from the coaches and my fellow teammates. I think it has helped all of us develop further in B grade, especially being a young team, we are beginning to think more about strategies rather than just playing.

The T20 season produced 1 win and 7 losses, while the 40 over season we had 1 win and 5 losses. Interestingly, both our wins were at the end of each season. The highlights of the season included a 56 run win over Melville with a dominant bowling performance bowling them all out for 48 in round 9 of the T20 season. For the 40 over season, we had an 18 run win over Perth with our highest score of 196 runs in round 7. This was due to some all-round team contributions and also some stand out individual performances mentioned below.

T20

Round 2 – Lizzy Alderson 35 (34) & Renae Bugg 2-18 (4)

Round 3 – Evelyn Brock 35 (33) & Anisha Vytla's first wicket 1-6 (1)

Round 4 – Charis Bekker 42* (46) & Evelyn Brock 37 (39)

Round 6 - Neha Prashanth 4-8 (4)

Round 8 – Renae Bugg 2-12 (4) with 2 maidens!

Round 9 – Team effort to get to 104 runs, and the wickets were shared around!

Cassie MacKenzie 2-4 (1.4), Neha Prashanth 2-9 (3), Charlotte Cooke 2-13 (3)

40 over

Round 1 – A very close loss, Holly Appleby 44 (106), Renae Bugg 3-21 (6) & Clare Jackman 3-14 (7) with 2 maidens!

Round 2 – Amazing concentration from Erika Yeo the brick wall 12 (85)

Round 3 – Neha Prashanth 2-15 (8) & Monica Rallabhandi 34 (86)

Round 5 – Olivia McSweeney 40 (46) & Monica Rallabhandi 54 (82) against her old team!

Round 7 – A 96 run opening stand! Holly Appleby 68 (131) & Evelyn Brock 49 (62)

I am immensely proud of all the girls who played B grade this season and the great team spirit from all of you is what made this season so fun. Although we had a few disappointing results we bounced back each week always looking on how to improve individual skills at training and as a team in the field. Each player



put in their all and I am very proud of how we developed over the season, from 35 runs in our first game to topping it off in our last game with 196 runs! This shows the exciting potential for next season.

A huge thank you to all the coaches this year – Bolts, Lisa, Connor, and Jordan – for all their support, and encouragement to facilitate the amount of growth and skills development that we have seen over this season has been amazing! We appreciate all the time and effort that goes on behind the scenes to ensure the club and teams run smoothly.

Thank you to Bolts for an awesome season, we all really appreciated the effort you put in with the all the training sessions. The pre-season sessions and the values workshop ensured we had the right mindset going into the season. The CURE values fostered a noticeably welcoming united atmosphere (especially for new faces), which encouraged us to be better players in many different aspects of the game and still have a fun enjoyable spirit in amongst the squad.

Thank you to Lisa for the one-on-one training sessions with the players, I know all the girls appreciated the considerable time and effort you put into helping all of us develop our skills, those individual sessions were very helpful!

Thank you to Connor for all the help and advice throughout the season, especially developing the bowlers' skills it was amazing to see some of the girls flourish through the different grades.

A massive thank you to Jordan who epitomizes what the club is all about, he is always there to ensure everything is running smoothly, offering advice, scoring and managing the team. As well as the many hours put into developing the team manager app!

I am looking forward to the 2022/2023 season and playing more cricket with the B Grade lionesses. Subi once, Subi twice!

Steph Harrington - B Grade Captain

Female Youth League Report

This year, the 2021/22 Youth League season was about working with a team of young enthusiastic emerging talented cricketers and providing them with an opportunity to grow and develop their cricketing passion.

After a solid pre-season, the girls kicked off the T20 series full of enthusiasm and came up against the heavy weights Melville and Wanneroo first up, narrowly losing to South Perth in a thriller in round 3, before delivering our first win against Rockingham Mandurah. In the second half of the T20 season there was steady progress and the girls had many competitive matches.

The key highlights for the T20 series included.

Round 2 – Olivia McSweeney 50*

Round 3 – Kate Johnson 24*, Jessica Oliver 2/18 and Olivia Pearcey 2/12

Round 4 – Jade Ross 33

Round 5 – Jade Ross 26 and Jessica Oliver 4/15

Round 6 - Olivia McSweeney 48*

Round 7 – Sasha Gerrick 25, Mahalia Upton 2/7 and Olivia Pearcey 2/15



Round 8 – Olivia McSweeney 40 and 2/11 by Jade Ross

Round 9 – Jessica Oliver 3/10

For the T20 season, Olivia McSweeney was the leading run-scorer finishing with 220 runs at an average of 26.5. Jessica Oliver led the bowling taking 13 wickets at an average of 10.77.

The girls came back after the Christmas break and played the 40 over season. It was a season with a good victory against Midland Guildford in Round 4 and a series of narrow losses against Wanneroo and Rockingham Mandurah.

Some of the key highlights are as follows.

Round 1 – Olivia Pearcey 4/16

Round 2 – Jessica Oliver 4/23, Emma Beattie 3/41, Olivia Pearcey 31 and Sasha Gerrick 27

Round 4 - Olivia Pearcey 47*

Round 5 - Mahalia Upton 61

The leading run-score of the One Day Season was Olivia Pearcey hitting 102 runs at an average of 34. Kate Johnson led the bowling taking 8 wickets at an average of just 11.

Congratulations to Olivia McSweeney who receives the Youth League Batting Award scoring 237 runs at an average of 21.55. Olivia showed great focus and concentration and always worked hard for all her runs.

The Bowling Award goes to Jessica Oliver who finished with 19 wickets at just 10.77, with best bowling figures of 4/15. Jessica was rewarded for consistently bowling good line and length and captured some of the biggest scalps in the Youth League. She is a rising star, well done.

The Coaches' Awards goes to Mahalia Upton. She was always first to training, last to leave and always willing to assist. It has been a pleasure coaching Mahalia and she is wonderful attribute to Subi-Floreat. To top off the award she scored 155 runs during the season and took 14 wickets.

This years' Emerging Lioness is Olivia Pearcey. She made 192 runs and took 15 wickets. Olivia proved she is genuine all-rounder that bowls with pace and is able to hit the ball hard. Congratulations Olivia.

I would like to also make special mention of Katherine Gower, Hannah Yoong and Bronagh Freegard who are fantastic team members always willing to help and contribute positively.

Special thanks to our two Captains this season: Kate Johnson during the T20 season and Olivia McSweeney during the One-Day season. To Alison Healey and Stella Ferguson who were our train on members, you're going to be fantastic additions to the YL team and club in the future.

Thank you to all the coaches Brett Johnson, Ray Oliver and Jeff Ferguson, for all assistance and support, to our army of volunteers, families and supporters, well done it all went seamless. Special thanks to our team manager Jordan Brock who did all the heavy lifting behind the scenes, always ready to help and respond to any request at any time day or night.

The Youth League team is developing further each year. I have no doubt that SFCC be a major force in the competition next season.

Peter McSweeney – Coach



Outstanding Performances

Batting – Centuries

| | Runs | Player | Grade | Round | Inns | Opponent |
|----|------|------------------|---|-------|------|-------------------------|
| 1 | 140 | Geremy Fatouros | 1st Grade | 6 | 1 | Perth |
| 2 | 135 | Thomas Hacker | 4th Grade | 7 | 1 | Claremont-Nedlands |
| 3 | 131 | Bailey J Gregson | 3rd Grade | 6 | 1 | Perth |
| 4 | 131 | Jayden Goodwin | 1st Grade | 6 | 1 | Perth |
| 5 | 120 | Nicole E Bolton | Female A Grade 50 Over | 7 | 1 | South Perth |
| 6 | 115 | Jonathan W Dean | 4th Grade | 7 | 1 | Claremont-Nedlands |
| 7 | 112 | Nicole E Bolton | Female A Grade 50 Over | 8 | 1 | Midland-Guildford |
| 8 | 112 | Jayden Goodwin | 1st Grade | 10 | 1 | Scarborough |
| 9 | 106 | Joshua Parker | 2nd Grade | 15 | 1 | Melville |
| 10 | 104 | Ethan J Chivers | 2nd Grade | 14 | 1 | Wanneroo |
| 11 | 101 | Aaron C Lilly | 1st Grade | 13 | 1 | Rockingham- Mandurah |
| 12 | 100 | Oscar Willis | Graham McKenzie Shield (Premier U14) | 7 | 1 | Midland-Guildford |
| 13 | 100 | Nicole E Bolton | Female A Grade T20 | 1 | 1 | South Perth |

Bowling - 10 wickets or more in a match: N/A

Bowling – hat tricks: N/A

Bowling – 5 wickets or more in an innings

| | Player | 0 | М | R | W | Grade | Round | Inns | Opponent | |
|----|--------------------------|------|---|-----|---|---------------------------|-------|-----------|-------------------------|--|
| 1 | Jessica Emery | 9.1 | 2 | 14 | 8 | Female A Grade 50 Over | 3 | 1 | Melville | |
| 2 | Christopher Hansberry | 18 | 5 | 41 | 7 | 1st Grade SF 1 | | Willetton | | |
| 3 | Tom Moscarda | 14.1 | 1 | 43 | 7 | 3rd Grade | EF | 1 | Perth | |
| 4 | Hamish McKenzie | 22 | 7 | 45 | 7 | 1st Grade | EF | 1 | Midland-Guildford | |
| 5 | Conor Moldrich | 18.4 | 5 | 45 | 7 | 1st Grade | 8 | 1 | Mount Lawley | |
| 6 | Michael Hart | 22.3 | 7 | 47 | 7 | 1st Grade | GF | 1 | South Perth | |
| 7 | Cory Bradnam | 8.2 | 2 | 22 | 6 | 3rd Grade | 13 | 1 | Rockingham- Mandurah | |
| 8 | Declan Evans | 16 | 3 | 33 | 6 | 3rd Grade | 8 | 1 | Mount Lawley | |
| 9 | Mitchell Adamos | 8 | 0 | 37 | 6 | 3rd Grade | 9 | 1 | Joondalup | |
| 10 | Jack Retallack | 16.5 | 6 | 44 | 6 | 2nd Grade | 5 | 1 | Fremantle | |
| 11 | Angus McKenzie | 35.5 | 9 | 104 | 6 | 2nd Grade | 12 | 1 | Bayswater-Morley | |
| 12 | Tim Massey | 6.1 | 1 | 16 | 5 | 1st Grade | 13 | 1 | Rockingham- Mandurah | |
| 13 | Hamish McKenzie | 12 | 5 | 20 | 5 | 1st Grade | 12 | 1 | Bayswater-Morley | |
| 14 | Callum Stevenson | 14.3 | 6 | 22 | 5 | 4th Grade | 7 | 1 | Claremont- Nedlands | |
| 15 | Hamish McKenzie | 9.2 | 2 | 30 | 5 | 1st Grade | GF1 | 1 | Mount Lawley | |
| 16 | Renae Bugg | 8.1 | 0 | 36 | 5 | Female A Grade 50 Over | 6 | 1 | Melville | |
| 17 | Tim Massey | 13 | 1 | 42 | 5 | 2nd Grade | 8 | 1 | Mount Lawley | |
| 18 | Hamish McKenzie | 10 | 0 | 45 | 5 | 1st Grade | 2 | 1 | University | |
| 19 | Hamish McKenzie | 23.3 | 6 | 52 | 5 | 1st Grade | 7 | 1 | Claremont- Nedlands | |
| 20 | Mitchell Adamos | 25 | 5 | 72 | 5 | 3rd Grade | 12 | 1 | Bayswater-Morley | |





Conor Moldrich, who tore through Mt Lawley with career best figures of 7/45



2021/22 Men's Batting and Bowling Averages

(players marked # are Award winners)

1st Grade Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100 s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | STR. | ст. | STP. |
|----|------------------------|-----|-----|----|--------------|-----|-----|------|------|------|-----|------|
| 1 | Fatouros, Geremy# | 19 | 20 | 2 | 1 | 4 | 140 | 745 | 41.4 | 62.9 | 11 | - |
| 2 | Goodwin, Jayden | 17 | 17 | 0 | 2 | 4 | 131 | 684 | 40.2 | 49.2 | 3 | - |
| 3 | Monteleone, Tim J | 16 | 17 | 3 | 0 | 4 | 90 | 543 | 38.8 | 56.3 | 20 | - |
| 4 | McKenzie, Hamish | 19 | 19 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 45 | 386 | 22.7 | 56.8 | 3 | - |
| 5 | Lilly, Aaron C | 15 | 14 | 5 | 1 | 0 | 101 | 385 | 42.8 | 67.5 | 2 | - |
| 6 | Tredget, Ben | 19 | 15 | 2 | 0 | 3 | 70 | 294 | 22.6 | 41.4 | 29 | 13 |
| 7 | Hansberry, Christopher | 19 | 17 | 2 | 0 | 1 | 56 | 239 | 15.9 | 62.7 | 10 | - |
| 8 | Hart, Michael | 18 | 14 | 3 | 0 | 2 | 65 | 233 | 21.2 | 83.2 | 4 | - |
| 9 | Chivers, Ethan J | 11 | 8 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 56 | 218 | 27.3 | 55.2 | 3 | - |
| 10 | Moldrich, Conor | 19 | 14 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 39 | 146 | 11.2 | 75.3 | 2 | - |
| 11 | Sculthorpe, Matthew | 19 | 11 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 27 | 105 | 17.5 | 50.2 | 6 | - |
| 12 | Green, Cameron | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 57 | 57 | 57.0 | 70.4 | 2 | - |
| 13 | Massey, Tim | 11 | 6 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 11 | 14 | 14.0 | 24.6 | 1 | - |
| 14 | Behrendorff, Jason | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 12 | 12 | 12.0 | 60.0 | - | - |
| 15 | Parker, Joshua | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 10 | 10 | 10.0 | 55.6 | - | - |
| 16 | Retallack, Jack | 8 | 3 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 7 | 10 | 5.0 | 37.0 | 5 | - |
| 17 | Martin, Lucas | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | - | - |
| 18 | Massey, Benjamin | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | - | - |

1st Grade Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | 10WM | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|------------------------|-----|-------|----|-----|----|-----|------|------|--------|--------|------|
| 1 | McKenzie, Hamish# | 19 | 260.3 | 41 | 746 | 58 | 5 | 0 | 7/45 | 12.86 | 26.95 | 2.86 |
| 2 | Hart, Michael | 18 | 209.4 | 57 | 536 | 36 | 1 | 0 | 7/47 | 14.89 | 34.94 | 2.56 |
| 3 | Moldrich, Conor | 19 | 177.2 | 39 | 488 | 28 | 1 | 0 | 7/45 | 17.43 | 38.00 | 2.75 |
| 4 | Hansberry, Christopher | 19 | 170.3 | 36 | 515 | 27 | 1 | 0 | 7/41 | 19.07 | 37.89 | 3.02 |
| 5 | Sculthorpe, Matthew | 19 | 115.5 | 10 | 450 | 16 | 0 | 0 | 2/8 | 28.13 | 43.44 | 3.88 |
| 6 | Monteleone, Tim J | 16 | 33.1 | 8 | 76 | 8 | 0 | 0 | 3/27 | 9.50 | 24.88 | 2.29 |
| 7 | Massey, Tim | 11 | 41.1 | 7 | 131 | 8 | 1 | 0 | 5/16 | 16.38 | 30.88 | 3.18 |
| 8 | Fatouros, Geremy | 19 | 8 | 0 | 33 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/33 | 16.50 | 24.00 | 4.13 |
| 9 | Behrendorff, Jason | 1 | 6 | 2 | 22 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/22 | 22.00 | 36.00 | 3.67 |
| 10 | Martin, Lucas | 2 | 26 | 8 | 73 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/41 | 73.00 | 156.00 | 2.81 |
| 11 | Retallack, Jack | 8 | 25 | 2 | 104 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/27 | 104.00 | 150.00 | 4.16 |
| 12 | Massey, Benjamin | 1 | 5 | 0 | 18 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/18 | NA | NA | 3.60 |
| 13 | Green, Cameron | 1 | 4 | 1 | 22 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/22 | NA | NA | 5.50 |



Premier T 20 Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | STR. | CT. | STP. |
|----|------------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|----|------|------|-------|-----|------|
| 1 | Monteleone, Tim J | 6 | 6 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 65 | 175 | 35.0 | 125.0 | - | - |
| 2 | Fatouros, Geremy | 6 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 39 | 154 | 25.7 | 117.6 | 1 | - |
| 3 | Moldrich, Conor | 6 | 6 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 49 | 99 | 19.8 | 100.0 | 2 | - |
| 4 | Goodwin, Jayden | 4 | 4 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 47 | 85 | 28.3 | 88.5 | - | - |
| 5 | Lilly, Aaron C | 6 | 5 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 29 | 66 | 16.5 | 106.5 | 2 | - |
| 6 | McKenzie, Hamish | 6 | 4 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 17 | 49 | 24.5 | 102.1 | 1 | - |
| 7 | Hansberry, Christopher | 6 | 4 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 20 | 46 | 23.0 | 102.2 | 1 | - |
| 8 | Tredget, Ben | 6 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 13 | 20 | 20.0 | 125.0 | 2 | 11 |
| 9 | Coulter-Nile, Nathan M | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15 | 16 | 8.0 | 145.5 | - | - |
| 10 | Retallack, Jack | 5 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 6 | 6.0 | 75.0 | 2 | - |
| 11 | Hart, Michael | 5 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0.5 | 20.0 | 2 | - |
| 12 | Sculthorpe, Matthew | 5 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | NA | 0.0 | 2 | - |
| 13 | Gregson, Bailey | 1 | 0 | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | - | - |
| 14 | Martin, Lucas | 1 | 0 | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | - | - |
| 15 | Behrendorff, Jason | 2 | 0 | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | - | - |
| 16 | Collins, Jamie | 3 | 0 | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | - | - |
| 17 | Prashanth, Kiran | 4 | 0 | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | 1 | - |

Premier T 20 Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | w | ВВІ | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|------------------------|-----|------|---|-----|---|------|-------|-------|------|
| 1 | Hansberry, Christopher | 6 | 18 | 0 | 77 | 9 | 3/13 | 8.56 | 12.00 | 4.28 |
| 2 | McKenzie, Hamish | 6 | 24 | 0 | 120 | 7 | 3/22 | 17.14 | 20.57 | 5.00 |
| 3 | Hart, Michael | 5 | 16.3 | 0 | 127 | 6 | 2/27 | 21.17 | 16.50 | 7.79 |
| 4 | Monteleone, Tim J | 6 | 9 | 0 | 53 | 5 | 3/23 | 10.60 | 10.80 | 5.89 |
| 5 | Behrendorff, Jason | 2 | 8 | 0 | 45 | 4 | 4/22 | 11.25 | 12.00 | 5.63 |
| 6 | Sculthorpe, Matthew | 5 | 12 | 0 | 64 | 4 | 2/8 | 16.00 | 15.00 | 5.33 |
| 7 | Moldrich, Conor | 6 | 18.4 | 0 | 120 | 4 | 2/27 | 30.00 | 28.00 | 6.52 |
| 8 | Martin, Lucas | 1 | 3 | 0 | 11 | 2 | 2/11 | 5.50 | 9.00 | 3.67 |
| 9 | Coulter-Nile, Nathan M | 2 | 7.5 | 0 | 54 | 1 | 1/28 | 54.00 | 47.00 | 7.2 |
| 10 | Retallack, Jack | 5 | 2 | 0 | 17 | 0 | 0/3 | NA | N/A | NA |



2nd Grade Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | ст. | STP. |
|----|-------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|-----|------|-------|-----|------|
| 1 | Parker, Joshua# | 14 | 14 | 1 | 1 | 3 | 106 | 491 | 37.77 | 14 | - |
| 2 | Wilson, Thomas | 13 | 14 | 2 | 0 | 4 | 74 | 342 | 28.50 | 27 | - |
| 3 | Prashanth, Kiran | 13 | 13 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 89 | 290 | 22.31 | 3 | - |
| 4 | Taylor, Guy | 12 | 13 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 45 | 288 | 26.18 | 4 | 1 |
| 5 | Parker, Benjamin | 14 | 14 | 3 | 0 | 2 | 63* | 212 | 19.27 | 7 | - |
| 6 | Lilly, Aaron C | 6 | 5 | 3 | 0 | 2 | 86 | 196 | 98.00 | - | - |
| 7 | Chivers, Ethan J | 5 | 5 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 104 | 170 | 34.00 | 2 | - |
| 8 | Collins, Jamie | 5 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 85 | 129 | 25.80 | 1 | _ |
| 9 | Retallack, Jack | 9 | 9 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 36 | 127 | 15.88 | 3 | - |
| 10 | Williams, Ross | 10 | 8 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 23 | 110 | 22.00 | 2 | - |
| 11 | McKenzie, Angus | 14 | 9 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 36* | 109 | 15.57 | 8 | - |
| 12 | Nicholson, Andrew | 13 | 7 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 31 | 65 | 10.83 | 4 | - |
| 13 | Bradnam, Cory | 3 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 11* | 20 | NA | 2 | - |
| 14 | Massey, Tim | 8 | 6 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 8* | 11 | 2.75 | 2 | - |
| 15 | Massey, Benjamin | 12 | 6 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 2* | 5 | 1.67 | 1 | - |
| 16 | Hinch, Maxwell | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | - | - |

2nd Grade Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | 10WM | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|-------------------|-----|-------|----|-----|----|-----|------|-------|-------|-------|------|
| 1 | McKenzie, Angus# | 14 | 185.5 | 39 | 469 | 27 | 1 | 0 | 6/104 | 17.37 | 41.30 | 2.52 |
| 2 | Retallack, Jack | 9 | 103.5 | 31 | 254 | 19 | 1 | 0 | 6/44 | 13.37 | 32.79 | 2.45 |
| 3 | Massey, Tim | 8 | 80.1 | 20 | 192 | 17 | 1 | 0 | 5/42 | 11.29 | 28.29 | 2.40 |
| 4 | Massey, Benjamin | 12 | 114 | 19 | 316 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 4/34 | 21.07 | 45.60 | 2.77 |
| 5 | Parker, Joshua | 14 | 95 | 17 | 293 | 13 | 0 | 0 | 2/13 | 22.54 | 43.85 | 3.08 |
| 6 | Nicholson, Andrew | 13 | 121.5 | 17 | 399 | 13 | 0 | 0 | 3/39 | 30.69 | 56.23 | 3.27 |
| 7 | Prashanth, Kiran | 13 | 22.3 | 1 | 72 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 4/34 | 12.00 | 22.50 | 3.20 |
| 8 | Williams, Ross | 10 | 18 | 2 | 52 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 3/22 | 13.00 | 27.00 | 2.89 |
| 9 | Evans, Declan | 3 | 29 | 5 | 87 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 2/44 | 21.75 | 43.50 | 3.00 |
| 10 | Collins, Jamie | 5 | 16.3 | 0 | 57 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1/10 | 28.50 | 49.50 | 3.45 |
| 11 | Bradnam, Cory | 3 | 25 | 4 | 74 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1/13 | 37.00 | 75.00 | 2.96 |
| 12 | Lilly, Aaron C | 6 | 2 | 0 | 8 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/8 | NA | NA | 4.00 |



3rd Grade Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | CT. | STP. |
|----|---------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|-----|------|--------|-----|------|
| 1 | Reed, Sam J# | 15 | 14 | 5 | 0 | 1 | 60* | 290 | 32.22 | 6 | - |
| 2 | Collins, Jamie | 12 | 11 | 3 | 0 | 2 | 93* | 264 | 33.00 | 7 | - |
| 3 | Gregson, Bailey J | 2 | 3 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 131 | 257 | 128.50 | 1 | - |
| 4 | Adamos, Mitchell | 16 | 12 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 41* | 228 | 22.80 | 7 | - |
| 5 | Hinch, Maxwell | 12 | 10 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 61* | 222 | 24.67 | 1 | - |
| 6 | Makova, Tatenda | 13 | 12 | 3 | 0 | 2 | 54* | 212 | 23.56 | 3 | - |
| 7 | Sivashanker, Sravan | 16 | 10 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 40 | 156 | 26.00 | 5 | - |
| 8 | Williams, Ross | 7 | 6 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 38 | 140 | 35.00 | 4 | - |
| 9 | Swain, Matthew | 9 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 48 | 108 | 18.00 | 3 | - |
| 10 | Bradnam, Cory | 13 | 8 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 36* | 95 | 13.57 | 1 | - |
| 11 | Taylor, Jack | 16 | 8 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 27* | 87 | 14.50 | 25 | 2 |
| 12 | Moscarda, Tom | 16 | 7 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 29 | 87 | 43.50 | 8 | - |
| 13 | Lockwood, Brodee | 7 | 5 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 30* | 60 | 15.00 | 1 | - |
| 14 | Schulze, Jackson | 4 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 41 | 41 | 13.67 | 1 | - |
| 15 | Evans, Declan | 10 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 10 | 11 | 11.00 | 1 | - |
| 16 | Betts, Joey | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 5 | 5.00 | - | - |
| 17 | Welsh, Zaine | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 5 | 5.00 | - | - |
| 18 | Taylor, Guy | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 5 | 5.00 | 1 | - |

3rd Grade Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | 10WM | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|---------------------|-----|-------|----|-----|----|-----|------|------|-------|-------|------|
| 1 | Moscarda, Tom# | 16 | 130.1 | 22 | 381 | 30 | 1 | 0 | 7/43 | 12.70 | 26.03 | 2.93 |
| 2 | Bradnam, Cory | 13 | 126.4 | 33 | 300 | 29 | 1 | 0 | 6/22 | 10.34 | 26.21 | 2.37 |
| 3 | Collins, Jamie | 12 | 125.5 | 23 | 281 | 21 | 0 | 0 | 4/10 | 13.38 | 35.95 | 2.23 |
| 4 | Evans, Declan | 10 | 96.4 | 19 | 292 | 19 | 1 | 0 | 6/33 | 15.37 | 30.53 | 3.02 |
| 5 | Adamos, Mitchell | 16 | 94.4 | 17 | 277 | 15 | 2 | 0 | 6/37 | 18.47 | 37.87 | 2.93 |
| 6 | Sivashanker, Sravan | 16 | 123.3 | 23 | 335 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 4/26 | 22.33 | 49.40 | 2.71 |
| 7 | Lockwood, Brodee | 7 | 27.2 | 5 | 111 | 9 | 0 | 0 | 4/8 | 12.33 | 18.22 | 4.06 |
| 8 | Stevenson, Callum | 3 | 12 | 4 | 24 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 3/24 | 8.00 | 24.00 | 2.00 |
| 9 | Reynolds, Michael | 5 | 14 | 2 | 49 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 2/19 | 16.33 | 28.00 | 3.50 |
| 10 | Kirk, Piers | 1 | 14 | 5 | 22 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/8 | 22.00 | 84.00 | 1.57 |
| 11 | Reed, Sam J | 15 | 7 | 1 | 26 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/20 | 26.00 | 42.00 | 3.71 |
| 12 | Williams, Ross | 7 | 15 | 2 | 51 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/43 | 51.00 | 90.00 | 3.40 |
| 13 | Swain, Matthew | 9 | 2 | 0 | 12 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/3 | NA | NA | 6.00 |
| 14 | Welsh, Zaine | 1 | 4 | 0 | 13 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/13 | NA | NA | 3.25 |
| 15 | Betts, Joey | 2 | 4 | 0 | 36 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/36 | NA | NA | 9.00 |



4th Grade Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | CT. | STP. |
|----|---------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|-----|------|-------|-----|------|
| 1 | Dean, Jonathan W# | 11 | 11 | 2 | 1 | 2 | 115 | 405 | 45.00 | 6 | 1 |
| 2 | Hacker, Thomas | 14 | 14 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 135 | 269 | 20.69 | 3 | |
| 3 | Betts, Joey | 9 | 8 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 97 | 251 | 31.38 | 2 | |
| 4 | Welsh, Zaine | 13 | 11 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 33 | 168 | 15.27 | 4 | 3 |
| 5 | Kalia, Mani | 11 | 10 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 62 | 164 | 18.22 | 1 | |
| 6 | Hopwood, Thomas | 3 | 3 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 91* | 160 | 80.00 | - | |
| 7 | Hinch, Maxwell | 4 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 52 | 160 | 40.00 | - | |
| 8 | Schulze, Jackson | 6 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 57 | 150 | 25.00 | 4 | |
| 9 | Stevenson, Callum | 14 | 11 | 2 | 0 | 1 | 50 | 119 | 13.22 | - | 1 |
| 10 | Parker, Luke | 14 | 12 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 37 | 95 | 7.92 | 4 | |
| 11 | Reynolds, Michael | 9 | 8 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 37* | 84 | 16.80 | 2 | |
| 12 | Swain, Matthew | 2 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 72 | 78 | 78.00 | - | |
| 13 | Murphy, Nathan | 3 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 35 | 57 | 19.00 | 2 | 1 |
| 14 | Crawford, Ross | 7 | 5 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 32* | 38 | NA | 1 | |
| 15 | Kirk, Piers | 9 | 5 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 13* | 30 | 15.00 | 2 | |
| 16 | O'Brien, Cameron | 6 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 11 | 28 | 9.33 | - | |
| 17 | Makova, Tatenda | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 22 | 22 | 22.00 | 2 | |
| 18 | Gregson, Bailey J | 1 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 18* | 18 | NA | - | |
| 19 | Bent, Duncan | 3 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 8 | 14 | 4.67 | - | |
| 20 | Clayton, Louis C | 2 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 5* | 10 | 10.00 | 3 | |
| 21 | Gregory, Cameron | 2 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 4* | 4 | NA | - | |
| 22 | Williams, Jamie | 3 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1* | 1 | NA | - | |
| 23 | Prowse, Adam | 5 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | 1 | |
| 24 | Whitbread, Nicholas | 3 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0* | 0 | NA | - | |
| 25 | How, Calum | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | 1 | |

4th Grade Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | 10WM | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|---|---------------------|-----|-------|----|-----|----|-----|------|------|-------|-------|------|
| 1 | Stevenson, Callum# | 14 | 129 | 28 | 336 | 29 | 1 | 0 | 5/22 | 11.59 | 26.69 | 2.60 |
| 2 | Welsh, Zaine | 13 | 108.3 | 18 | 314 | 22 | 0 | 0 | 4/8 | 14.27 | 29.59 | 2.89 |
| 3 | Hacker, Thomas | 14 | 86 | 8 | 365 | 13 | 0 | 0 | 3/29 | 28.08 | 39.69 | 4.24 |
| 4 | Kirk, Piers | 9 | 54.2 | 10 | 176 | 9 | 0 | 0 | 3/23 | 19.56 | 36.22 | 3.24 |
| 5 | Reynolds, Michael | 9 | 57 | 15 | 207 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 2/14 | 29.57 | 48.86 | 3.63 |
| 6 | Kalia, Mani | 11 | 41 | 5 | 160 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 3/27 | 26.67 | 41.00 | 3.90 |
| 7 | O'Brien, Cameron | 6 | 33 | 5 | 135 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 2/44 | 33.75 | 49.50 | 4.09 |
| 8 | Whitbread, Nicholas | 3 | 6 | 0 | 27 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 3/27 | 9.00 | 12.00 | 4.50 |



| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | 10WM | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|------------------|-----|------|---|-----|---|-----|------|------|-------|--------|------|
| 9 | Betts, Joey | 9 | 14 | 0 | 60 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1/19 | 30.00 | 42.00 | 4.29 |
| 10 | Crawford, Ross | 7 | 23 | 3 | 74 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1/15 | 37.00 | 69.00 | 3.22 |
| 11 | Parker, Luke | 14 | 33.2 | 3 | 184 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1/26 | 92.00 | 100.00 | 5.52 |
| 12 | Williams, Jamie | 3 | 6 | 0 | 34 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/3 | 34.00 | 36.00 | 5.67 |
| 13 | Swain, Matthew | 2 | 7 | 0 | 44 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/28 | 44.00 | 42.00 | 6.29 |
| 14 | Bent, Duncan | 3 | 6 | 0 | 45 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/19 | 45.00 | 36.00 | 7.50 |
| 15 | Prowse, Adam | 5 | 20 | 1 | 91 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/21 | 91.00 | 120.00 | 4.55 |
| 16 | Clayton, Louis C | 2 | 2 | 0 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/7 | NA | NA | 3.50 |

Colts Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | STR. | CT. | STP. |
|---|---------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|-----|------|--------|-------|-----|------|
| 1 | Collins, Jamie | 4 | 4 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 39* | 117 | 117.00 | 104.5 | - | |
| 2 | Goodwin, Jayden | 2 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 59* | 115 | 115.00 | 140.6 | 1 | _ |
| 3 | Chivers, Ethan J | 4 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 51 | 85 | 21.25 | 81.5 | 2 | - |
| 4 | Taylor, Guy | 4 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 32 | 58 | 19.33 | 91.1 | 3 | 1 |
| 5 | Prashanth, Kiran | 4 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 30 | 48 | 12.00 | 102.8 | - | - |
| 6 | Hinch, Maxwell | 4 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 32 | 39 | 9.75 | 72.7 | 2 | - |
| 7 | Makova, Tatenda | 4 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 24 | 29 | 9.67 | 129.2 | 1 | - |
| 8 | Sculthorpe, Matthew | 4 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 11* | 16 | NA | 104.8 | 3 | - |
| 9 | Nicholson, Andrew | 4 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0* | 0 | 0.00 | 105.6 | 2 | - |

Colts Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | М | R | W | 5WI | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|---|---------------------|-----|----|---|-----|---|-----|-----|------|-------|-------|
| 1 | Nicholson, Andrew | 4 | 16 | 0 | 66 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 3/18 | 9.43 | 13.71 |
| 2 | Massey, Tim | 4 | 14 | 0 | 87 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 2/20 | 17.40 | 16.80 |
| 3 | Goodwin, Jayden | 2 | 5 | 0 | 41 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 3/25 | 10.25 | 7.50 |
| 4 | Collins, Jamie | 4 | 14 | 0 | 98 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 2/18 | 24.50 | 21.00 |
| 5 | Prashanth, Kiran | 4 | 12 | 0 | 87 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1/21 | 43.50 | 36.00 |
| 6 | Sculthorpe, Matthew | 4 | 15 | 0 | 106 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/20 | 53.00 | 45.00 |
| 7 | Kirk, Piers | 3 | 4 | 0 | 32 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/18 | 32.00 | 24.00 |



All Men's and Women's Grades Leading Batting and Bowling Season Aggregates

The leading run scorers in all men's and women's senior and junior competitions who scored over 200 runs

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. |
|----|------------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|------|------|--------|
| 1 | Fatouros, Geremy | 25 | 26 | 2 | 1 | 4 | 140 | 899 | 37.46 |
| 2 | Goodwin, Jayden | 23 | 23 | 2 | 2 | 6 | 131 | 884 | 42.10 |
| 3 | Monteleone, Tim J | 22 | 23 | 4 | 0 | 5 | 90 | 718 | 37.79 |
| 4 | Lilly, Aaron C | 27 | 24 | 9 | 1 | 2 | 101* | 647 | 43.13 |
| 5 | Malajczuk, Will | 20 | 17 | 2 | 0 | 6 | 87* | 625 | 41.67 |
| 6 | Bolton, Nicole E | 11 | 10 | 1 | 3 | 2 | 120 | 574 | 63.78 |
| 7 | Collins, Jamie | 24 | 20 | 6 | 0 | 3 | 93* | 510 | 36.43 |
| 8 | Parker, Joshua | 16 | 15 | 1 | 1 | 3 | 106 | 501 | 35.79 |
| 9 | Banting, Megan | 15 | 15 | 2 | 0 | 3 | 99* | 500 | 38.46 |
| 10 | Chivers, Ethan J | 20 | 17 | 0 | 1 | 4 | 104 | 473 | 27.82 |
| 11 | McKenzie, Hamish | 25 | 23 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 45 | 435 | 22.89 |
| 12 | Clayton, Louis C | 16 | 15 | 3 | 0 | 3 | 65 | 424 | 35.33 |
| 13 | Hinch, Maxwell | 21 | 19 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 61* | 421 | 23.39 |
| 14 | Dean, Jonathan W | 11 | 11 | 2 | 1 | 2 | 115 | 405 | 45.00 |
| 15 | Taylor, Guy | 17 | 17 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 45 | 351 | 23.40 |
| 16 | Murphy, Nathan | 19 | 16 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 69 | 350 | 23.33 |
| 17 | Wilson, Thomas | 13 | 14 | 2 | 0 | 4 | 74 | 342 | 28.50 |
| 18 | Monaghan, Millie | 18 | 17 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 60 | 339 | 21.19 |
| 19 | Prashanth, Kiran | 23 | 17 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 89 | 338 | 19.88 |
| 20 | Tredget, Ben | 25 | 17 | 3 | 0 | 3 | 70 | 314 | 22.43 |
| 21 | Hopwood, Thomas | 13 | 11 | 3 | 0 | 3 | 91* | 299 | 37.38 |
| 22 | McSweeney, Olivia | 19 | 17 | 4 | 0 | 1 | 50* | 292 | 22.46 |
| 23 | Reed, Sam J | 15 | 14 | 5 | 0 | 1 | 60* | 290 | 32.22 |
| 24 | Carlson, Jake | 8 | 7 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 93 | 286 | 47.67 |
| 25 | Hansberry, Christopher | 25 | 21 | 4 | 0 | 1 | 56* | 285 | 16.76 |
| 26 | Kalia, Neel | 15 | 13 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 50 | 279 | 23.25 |
| 27 | Gregson, Bailey J | 4 | 4 | 2 | 1 | 1 | 131 | 275 | 137.50 |
| 28 | Davies, Blake | 9 | 9 | 4 | 0 | 1 | 61* | 270 | 54.00 |
| 29 | Hacker, Thomas | 14 | 14 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 135 | 269 | 20.69 |
| 30 | Makova, Tatenda | 18 | 16 | 3 | 0 | 2 | 54* | 263 | 20.23 |
| 31 | Appleby, Holly | 13 | 13 | 2 | 0 | 1 | 68 | 258 | 23.45 |
| 32 | Betts, Joey | 13 | 9 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 97 | 256 | 28.44 |
| 33 | Williams, Ross | 17 | 14 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 38 | 250 | 27.78 |
| 34 | Willis, Oscar | 9 | 7 | 2 | 1 | 1 | 100 | 246 | 49.20 |
| 35 | Moldrich, Conor | 25 | 20 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 49* | 245 | 13.61 |
| 36 | Hearmon, Tristan | 14 | 12 | 2 | 0 | 1 | 75 | 239 | 23.90 |



| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. |
|----|------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|-----|------|-------|
| 37 | Brock, Evelyn | 18 | 17 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 49 | 236 | 13.88 |
| 38 | Hart, Michael | 23 | 16 | 3 | 0 | 2 | 65 | 234 | 18.00 |
| 39 | Adamos, Mitchell | 16 | 12 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 41* | 228 | 22.80 |
| 40 | Darke, Maddy | 7 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 78 | 221 | 31.57 |
| 41 | Parker, Benjamin | 14 | 14 | 3 | 0 | 2 | 63* | 212 | 19.27 |

The leading wicket takers in all men's and women's senior and junior competitions who have taken over 15 wickets

| | PLAYER | MAT | О | M | R | W | 5WI | 10WM | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|---------------------------|-----|-------|----|-----|----|-----|------|-------|-------|-------|------|
| 1 | McKenzie, Hamish | 25 | 284.3 | 41 | 866 | 65 | 5 | 0 | 7/45 | 13.32 | 26.26 | 3.04 |
| 2 | Hart, Michael | 23 | 226.1 | 57 | 663 | 42 | 1 | 0 | 7/47 | 15.79 | 32.31 | 2.93 |
| 3 | Hansberry, Christopher | 25 | 188.3 | 36 | 592 | 36 | 1 | 0 | 7/41 | 16.44 | 31.42 | 3.14 |
| 4 | Stevenson, Callum | 21 | 141 | 32 | 360 | 32 | 1 | 0 | 5/22 | 11.25 | 26.44 | 2.55 |
| 5 | Moldrich, Conor | 25 | 196 | 39 | 608 | 32 | 1 | 0 | 7/45 | 19.00 | 36.75 | 3.10 |
| 6 | Bradnam, Cory | 16 | 151.4 | 37 | 374 | 31 | 1 | 0 | 6/22 | 12.06 | 29.35 | 2.47 |
| 7 | Moscarda, Tom | 16 | 130.1 | 22 | 381 | 30 | 1 | 0 | 7/43 | 12.70 | 26.03 | 2.93 |
| 8 | Massey, Tim | 23 | 135.2 | 27 | 410 | 30 | 2 | 0 | 5/16 | 13.67 | 27.07 | 3.03 |
| 9 | Collins, Jamie | 24 | 156.2 | 23 | 436 | 27 | 0 | 0 | 4/10 | 16.15 | 34.74 | 2.79 |
| 10 | McKenzie, Angus | 15 | 185.5 | 39 | 469 | 27 | 1 | 0 | 6/104 | 17.37 | 41.30 | 2.52 |
| 11 | Emery, Jessica | 14 | 79.3 | 10 | 293 | 25 | 1 | 0 | 8/14 | 11.72 | 19.08 | 3.69 |
| 12 | Evans, Declan | 13 | 125.4 | 24 | 379 | 23 | 1 | 0 | 6/33 | 16.48 | 32.78 | 3.02 |
| 13 | Welsh, Zaine | 14 | 112.3 | 18 | 327 | 22 | 0 | 0 | 4/8 | 14.86 | 30.68 | 2.91 |
| 14 | Sculthorpe, Matthew | 28 | 142.5 | 10 | 620 | 22 | 0 | 0 | 2/8 | 28.18 | 38.95 | 4.34 |
| 15 | Naidoo, Jacqueline | 15 | 85.3 | 11 | 345 | 20 | 0 | 0 | 4/7 | 17.25 | 25.65 | 4.04 |
| 16 | Retallack, Jack | 22 | 130.5 | 33 | 375 | 20 | 1 | 0 | 6/44 | 18.75 | 39.25 | 2.87 |
| 17 | Nicholson, Andrew | 17 | 137.5 | 17 | 465 | 20 | 0 | 0 | 3/18 | 23.25 | 41.35 | 3.37 |
| 18 | Oliver, Jessica | 15 | 40.2 | 1 | 205 | 19 | 0 | 0 | 4/15 | 10.79 | 12.74 | 5.08 |
| 19 | Clayton, Louis C | 16 | 68.4 | 5 | 279 | 19 | 0 | 0 | 4/26 | 14.68 | 21.68 | 4.06 |
| 20 | Bugg, Renae | 19 | 75.3 | 5 | 359 | 17 | 1 | 0 | 5/36 | 21.12 | 26.65 | 4.75 |
| 21 | Malajczuk, Will | 20 | 71 | 7 | 211 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 4/10 | 14.07 | 28.40 | 2.97 |
| 22 | Pearcey, Olivia | 14 | 53 | 4 | 222 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 4/16 | 14.80 | 21.20 | 4.19 |
| 23 | Bekker, Charis | 11 | 56.3 | 9 | 229 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 4/23 | 15.27 | 22.60 | 4.05 |
| 24 | Prashanth, Neha | 14 | 57.5 | 6 | 243 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 4/8 | 16.20 | 23.13 | 4.20 |
| 25 | Adamos, Mitchell | 16 | 94.4 | 17 | 277 | 15 | 2 | 0 | 6/37 | 18.47 | 37.87 | 2.93 |
| 26 | Massey, Benjamin | 13 | 119 | 19 | 334 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 4/34 | 22.27 | 47.60 | 2.81 |
| 27 | Sivashanker, Sravan | 16 | 123.3 | 23 | 335 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 4/26 | 22.33 | 49.40 | 2.71 |



2021/22 Female Batting & Bowling Averages

(players marked # are Award winners)

Female A Grade 50 Overs Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | CT. | STP. |
|----|---------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|-----|------|-------|-----|------|
| 1 | Bolton, Nicole E# | 8 | 8 | 1 | 2 | 2 | 120 | 471 | 67.29 | 6 | - |
| 2 | Banting, Megan | 9 | 9 | 1 | 0 | 2 | 99* | 286 | 35.75 | 5 | 2 |
| 3 | Monaghan, Millie | 9 | 9 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 60 | 215 | 23.89 | 5 | - |
| 4 | Darke, Maddy | 5 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 78 | 211 | 42.20 | - | - |
| 5 | Naidoo, Jacqueline | 6 | 6 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 31* | 67 | 16.75 | 2 | - |
| 6 | Emery, Jessica | 9 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 29 | 61 | 10.17 | 4 | - |
| 7 | Nicholson, Lauren | 6 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15 | 39 | 6.50 | - | - |
| 8 | Ireland, Georgie | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 30 | 30 | 30.00 | 1 | - |
| 9 | Walsh, Niamh | 5 | 3 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 17* | 26 | 26.00 | - | - |
| 10 | Purnell, Olivia | 6 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 13 | 21 | 4.20 | 1 | - |
| 11 | Rallabhandi, Monica | 1 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 20* | 20 | NA | - | - |
| 12 | Alderson, Lizzy | 2 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 17* | 17 | 17.00 | - | - |
| 13 | McSweeney, Olivia | 3 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 6* | 9 | 9.00 | 2 | - |
| 14 | Jackman, Clare | 2 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 8 | 8 | 8.00 | - | - |
| 15 | Bugg, Renae | 7 | 3 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 6 | 3.00 | 1 | - |
| 16 | Young, Jasmine | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 1.00 | - | - |
| 17 | Bekker, Charis | 3 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0.50 | 2 | - |
| 18 | Brock, Evelyn | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 1.00 | - | - |
| 19 | Lim, Yi-Shan | 8 | 4 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0* | 0 | 0.00 | 2 | - |
| 20 | Prashanth, Neha | 3 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0* | 0 | NA | - | - |
| 21 | Price, Tansi | 4 | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | NA | 1 | - |

Female A Grade 50 Overs Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|--------------------|-----|------|----|-----|----|-----|------|-------|-------|------|
| 1 | Emery, Jessica# | 9 | 65.1 | 10 | 188 | 22 | 1 | 8/14 | 8.55 | 17.77 | 2.88 |
| 2 | Naidoo, Jacqueline | 6 | 50.3 | 9 | 179 | 11 | 0 | 3/27 | 16.27 | 27.55 | 3.54 |
| 3 | Bolton, Nicole E | 8 | 61 | 11 | 147 | 9 | 0 | 3/7 | 16.33 | 40.67 | 2.41 |
| 4 | Bekker, Charis | 3 | 27 | 6 | 91 | 7 | 0 | 4/23 | 13.00 | 23.14 | 3.37 |
| 5 | Nicholson, Lauren | 6 | 48 | 6 | 149 | 7 | 0 | 4/29 | 21.29 | 41.14 | 3.10 |
| 6 | Price, Tansi | 4 | 19 | 6 | 43 | 6 | 0 | 3/14 | 7.17 | 19.00 | 2.26 |
| 7 | Bugg, Renae | 7 | 33.5 | 0 | 170 | 5 | 1 | 5/36 | 34.00 | 40.60 | 5.07 |
| 8 | McSweeney, Olivia | 3 | 15.1 | 4 | 46 | 4 | 0 | 3/11 | 11.50 | 22.75 | 3.05 |
| 9 | Lim, Yi-Shan | 8 | 18.4 | 0 | 79 | 3 | 0 | 1/5 | 26.33 | 37.33 | 4.29 |
| 10 | Walsh, Niamh | 5 | 12 | 0 | 50 | 1 | 0 | 1/11 | 50.00 | 72.00 | 4.17 |
| 11 | Prashanth, Neha | 3 | 5 | 0 | 34 | 0 | 0 | 0/34 | NA | NA | NA |



Female A Grade T20 Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100 s | 50 s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | CT. | STP. |
|----|-----------------------|-----|-----|----|--------------|-------------|-----|------|-------|-----|------|
| 1 | Banting, Megan | 6 | 6 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 59* | 214 | 42.80 | - | - |
| 2 | Monaghan, Millie | 9 | 8 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 43 | 124 | 17.71 | 2 | - |
| 3 | Naidoo, Jacqueline | 9 | 7 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 36 | 109 | 27.25 | 1 | - |
| 4 | Bolton, Nicole E | 3 | 2 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 100 | 103 | 51.50 | 2 | - |
| 5 | Graham, Heather | 1 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 81* | 81 | NA | 2 | - |
| 6 | Bekker, Charis | 7 | 6 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 26 | 61 | 15.25 | 5 | - |
| 7 | Purnell, Olivia | 6 | 4 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 18 | 28 | 9.33 | - | - |
| 8 | Alderson, Lizzy | 6 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 17 | 23 | 5.75 | 1 | - |
| 9 | Price, Tansi | 5 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 8 | 19 | 6.33 | 1 | - |
| 10 | Cooke, Charlotte | 8 | 3 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 7 | 15 | 7.50 | 2 | - |
| 11 | Griffith, Lisa | 2 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 15 | 15 | 15.00 | 2 | - |
| 12 | Nicholson, Lauren | 4 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 11 | 13 | 6.50 | 1 | - |
| 13 | Darke, Maddy | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 10 | 10 | 5.00 | 2 | 2 |
| 14 | Brock, Evelyn | 4 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 3 | 4 | 1.33 | - | - |
| 15 | Lim, Yi-Shan | 4 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 3* | 3 | NA | - | - |
| 16 | Harrington, Stephanie | 3 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 3* | 3 | NA | - | - |
| 17 | Emery, Jessica | 5 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 3 | 1.50 | - | - |
| 18 | Bugg, Renae | 3 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 2 | 2.00 | - | - |
| 19 | Young, Jasmine | 6 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0* | 0 | NA | - | - |
| 20 | Prashanth, Neha | 2 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0* | 0 | NA | - | - |
| 21 | Jackman, Clare | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | 1 | - |

Female A Grade T20 Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | 10WM | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|-----------------------|-----|------|---|-----|---|-----|------|------|-------|-------|-------|
| 1 | Naidoo, Jacqueline | 9 | 35 | 2 | 166 | 9 | 0 | 0 | 4/7 | 18.44 | 23.33 | 4.74 |
| 2 | Bekker, Charis | 7 | 26.3 | 3 | 123 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 2/11 | 17.57 | 22.71 | 4.64 |
| 3 | Nicholson, Lauren | 4 | 12.1 | 0 | 72 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 2/3 | 14.40 | 14.60 | 5.92 |
| 4 | Lim, Yi-Shan | 4 | 7 | 0 | 40 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 4/18 | 10.00 | 10.50 | 5.71 |
| 5 | Price, Tansi | 5 | 11 | 0 | 43 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 2/8 | 10.75 | 16.50 | 3.91 |
| 6 | Emery, Jessica | 5 | 14.2 | 0 | 105 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 2/9 | 35.00 | 28.67 | 7.33 |
| 7 | Monaghan, Millie | 9 | 5 | 0 | 43 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/7 | 21.50 | 15.00 | 8.60 |
| 8 | Bugg, Renae | 3 | 4 | 0 | 52 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/52 | 26.00 | 12.00 | 13.00 |
| 9 | Prashanth, Neha | 2 | 8 | 0 | 54 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/32 | 27.00 | 24.00 | 6.75 |
| 10 | Cooke, Charlotte | 8 | 15.3 | 1 | 107 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/23 | 53.50 | 46.50 | 6.90 |
| 11 | Griffith, Lisa | 2 | 4 | 0 | 30 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/30 | 30.00 | 24.00 | 7.50 |
| 12 | Bolton, Nicole E | 3 | 10 | 0 | 30 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/17 | 30.00 | 60.00 | 3.00 |
| 13 | Harrington, Stephanie | 3 | 2 | 0 | 10 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/10 | NA | NA | 5.00 |
| 14 | Graham, Heather | 1 | 4 | 0 | 22 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/22 | NA | NA | 5.50 |
| 15 | Young, Jasmine | 6 | 8 | 0 | 59 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/9 | NA | NA | 7.38 |



Female B Grade 40 Overs Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50 s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | STR. | CT. | STP. |
|----|--------------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-------------|-----|------|-------|-------|-----|------|
| 1 | Appleby, Holly# | 5 | 5 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 68 | 165 | 41.25 | 40.0 | 2 | 1 |
| 2 | Rallabhandi, Monica | 6 | 6 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 54* | 125 | 25.00 | 53.2 | - | - |
| 3 | Brock, Evelyn | 6 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 49 | 100 | 16.67 | 55.9 | _ | - |
| 4 | McSweeney, Olivia | 2 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 40 | 46 | 46.00 | 88.5 | _ | - |
| 5 | Harrington, Stephanie | 6 | 5 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 13 | 44 | 11.00 | 40.0 | 1 | - |
| 6 | Jackman, Clare | 5 | 5 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 15* | 44 | 11.00 | 63.8 | 1 | - |
| 7 | Bugg, Renae | 3 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 8 | 17 | 5.67 | 26.6 | 1 | - |
| 8 | Yeo, Erika | 5 | 3 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 12* | 14 | 14.00 | 14.9 | _ | - |
| 9 | Vinning, Kailin | 2 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 7* | 11 | 11.00 | 61.1 | - | - |
| 10 | Prashanth, Neha | 5 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 9 | 3.00 | 28.1 | - | - |
| 11 | Fidge, Montana R | 3 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7 | 7 | 3.50 | 18.9 | 1 | - |
| 12 | Purnell, Olivia | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 4 | 4 | 4.00 | 133.3 | _ | - |
| 13 | Lim, Yi-Shan | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 0.50 | 5.9 | _ | - |
| 14 | Patino, Steph | 4 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1* | 1 | NA | 11.1 | _ | - |
| 15 | Brakespeare, Katie | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 1.00 | 20.0 | - | - |
| 16 | Young, Jasmine | 3 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0* | 0 | NA | 0.0 | - | - |
| 17 | Price, Tansi | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | 0.0 | - | - |
| 18 | Alderson, Lizzy | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | 0.0 | - | - |
| 19 | Vytla, Anisha - | 5 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | 0.0 | 1 | - |

Female B Grade 40 Overs Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | 10WM | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|--------------------------|-----|------|---|-----|---|-----|------|------|-------|--------|------|
| 1 | Prashanth, Neha# | 5 | 33.5 | 4 | 123 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 2/15 | 17.57 | 29.00 | 3.64 |
| 2 | Jackman, Clare | 5 | 34 | 5 | 87 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 3/14 | 14.50 | 34.00 | 2.56 |
| 3 | Bugg, Renae | 3 | 17 | 1 | 57 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 3/21 | 14.25 | 25.50 | 3.35 |
| 4 | Price, Tansi | 2 | 5 | 0 | 22 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/22 | 11.00 | 15.00 | 4.40 |
| 5 | Lim, Yi-Shan | 2 | 10 | 0 | 40 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1/15 | 20.00 | 30.00 | 4.00 |
| 6 | Young, Jasmine | 3 | 13 | 1 | 54 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1/19 | 27.00 | 39.00 | 4.15 |
| 7 | McSweeney, Olivia | 2 | 13 | 0 | 74 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/46 | 37.00 | 39.00 | 5.69 |
| 8 | Harrington, Stephanie | 6 | 17.1 | 1 | 99 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/27 | 99.00 | 103.00 | 5.77 |
| 9 | Fidge, Montana R | 3 | 0.3 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/1 | NA | NA | 2.00 |
| 10 | Yeo, Erika | 5 | 2 | 0 | 11 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | NA | NA | 5.50 |
| 11 | Vytla, Anisha - | 5 | 4 | 0 | 16 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/16 | NA | NA | 4.00 |
| 12 | Vinning, Kailin | 2 | 2.4 | 0 | 21 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/15 | NA | NA | 7.88 |
| 13 | MacKenzie, Cassie A | 2 | 8 | 1 | 35 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/35 | NA | NA | 4.38 |
| 14 | Appleby, Holly | 5 | 8 | 0 | 48 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/2 | NA | NA | 6.00 |



Female B Grade T20 Batting Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | STR. | CT. | STP. |
|----|--------------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|-----|------|-------|------|-----|------|
| 1 | Brock, Evelyn | 7 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 37 | 131 | 18.71 | 74.0 | - | - |
| 2 | Appleby, Holly | 7 | 7 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 29* | 80 | 13.33 | 46.5 | 2 | - |
| 3 | Alderson, Lizzy | 4 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 35 | 48 | 12.00 | 73.8 | 2 | 2 |
| 4 | MacKenzie, Cassie A | 3 | 3 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 24* | 44 | 22.00 | 86.3 | - | - |
| 5 | Vinning, Kailin | 7 | 7 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 29* | 43 | 8.60 | 44.8 | - | - |
| 6 | Bekker, Charis | 1 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 42* | 42 | NA | 91.3 | - | - |
| 7 | Harrington, Stephanie | 5 | 5 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 10 | 36 | 9.00 | 42.9 | - | - |
| 8 | Jackman, Clare | 6 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 12 | 32 | 5.33 | 53.3 | 2 | - |
| 9 | Bugg, Renae | 6 | 5 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 12 | 24 | 6.00 | 39.3 | 1 | - |
| 10 | Fidge, Montana R | 6 | 4 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 6* | 20 | 10.00 | 28.2 | - | - |
| 11 | Cooke, Charlotte | 2 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 8 | 9 | 4.50 | 56.3 | - | - |
| 12 | Vytla, Anisha - | 7 | 3 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 4* | 8 | 8.00 | 53.3 | 1 | - |
| 13 | Yeo, Erika | 6 | 5 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 2* | 4 | 2.00 | 10.8 | - | - |
| 14 | Lim, Yi-Shan | 3 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | 0.0 | - | - |
| 15 | Prashanth, Neha | 3 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0* | 0 | NA | 0.0 | - | - |
| 16 | Barbato, Alana - | 5 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | 0.0 | - | - |
| 17 | Morton, Julie | 4 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00 | 0.0 | - | - |
| 18 | Patino, Steph | 4 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0* | 0 | NA | 0.0 | - | - |

Female B Grade T20 Bowling Averages

| | PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | 10WM | BBI | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|----|--------------------------|-----|------|---|-----|---|-----|------|------|--------|-------|-------|
| 1 | Prashanth, Neha | 3 | 9 | 1 | 28 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 4/8 | 4.67 | 9.00 | 3.11 |
| 2 | Bugg, Renae | 6 | 20.4 | 4 | 80 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 2/12 | 13.33 | 20.67 | 3.87 |
| 3 | Appleby, Holly | 7 | 21 | 0 | 104 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 1/4 | 20.80 | 25.20 | 4.95 |
| 4 | Cooke, Charlotte | 2 | 6 | 0 | 28 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 2/13 | 7.00 | 9.00 | 4.67 |
| 5 | MacKenzie, Cassie A | 3 | 9.4 | 1 | 53 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/4 | 26.50 | 29.00 | 5.48 |
| 6 | Vinning, Kailin | 7 | 7 | 0 | 55 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1/14 | 27.50 | 21.00 | 7.86 |
| 7 | Jackman, Clare | 6 | 16 | 3 | 90 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2/7 | 45.00 | 48.00 | 5.63 |
| 8 | Bekker, Charis | 1 | 3 | 0 | 15 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/15 | 15.00 | 18.00 | 5.00 |
| 9 | Lim, Yi-Shan | 3 | 11 | 0 | 52 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/24 | 52.00 | 66.00 | 4.73 |
| 10 | Harrington, Stephanie | 5 | 7.4 | 0 | 67 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/11 | 67.00 | 46.00 | 8.74 |
| 11 | Vytla, Anisha - | 7 | 16 | 0 | 102 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1/6 | 102.00 | 96.00 | 6.38 |
| 12 | Brock, Evelyn | 7 | 1 | 0 | 14 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/14 | NA | NA | 14.00 |
| 13 | Fidge, Montana R | 6 | 5 | 0 | 46 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/13 | NA | NA | 9.20 |
| 14 | Yeo, Erika | 6 | 7 | 0 | 55 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0/21 | NA | NA | 7.86 |



1st Grade Aggregates 1977/78 to 2021/22

Batting - those who have scored 300 runs or more in 1st Grade

| PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | ст. | STP. |
|----------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|------|-------|-------|-----|------|
| Alderman, Terry | 67 | 41 | 8 | - | 1 | 60 | 464 | 14.06 | 37 | - |
| Allen, Jeremy | 34 | 32 | 4 | - | 3 | 79* | 532 | 19.00 | 3 | - |
| Auty, Clint | 23 | 29 | 7 | - | 1 | 52 | 491 | 22.32 | 13 | - |
| Bandy, David | 38 | 41 | 5 | 3 | 10 | 260* | 1,852 | 51.44 | 17 | - |
| Barlow, Graham | 12 | 15 | 2 | - | 4 | 66 | 422 | 32.46 | 3 | - |
| Barnes, Daniel | 18 | 24 | 4 | - | 2 | 68 | 331 | 16.55 | 2 | - |
| Beattie, Tim | 19 | 27 | 2 | - | 2 | 76 | 456 | 18.24 | 9 | - |
| Behrendorff, Jason | 65 | 43 | 9 | 0 | 8 | 79 | 979 | 28.44 | 14 | - |
| Bolton, Adam | 22 | 24 | 1 | - | 2 | 70 | 524 | 22.78 | 9 | - |
| Bolton, David | 185 | 230 | 9 | 5 | 28 | 136 | 5,679 | 25.70 | 85 | - |
| Breman, Todd | 66 | 71 | 10 | 1 | 9 | 102* | 1,632 | 26.75 | 27 | - |
| Bush, Giles | 136 | 106 | 22 | - | 1 | 55 | 1,028 | 12.24 | 47 | - |
| Campbell, Robert | 115 | 140 | 16 | - | 12 | 91 | 2,575 | 20.77 | 55 | - |
| Cann, Christopher | 118 | 146 | 25 | 2 | 17 | 101* | 3,199 | 26.44 | 56 | - |
| Capes, Peter | 76 | 74 | 16 | - | 1 | 62 | 743 | 12.81 | 12 | - |
| Chivers, Ethan | 17 | 14 | - | - | 3 | 71 | 340 | 24.28 | 5 | - |
| Chrystal, Haydn | 45 | 55 | 9 | 1 | 5 | 131 | 1,148 | 24.96 | 21 | - |
| Clark, Michael | 53 | 33 | 6 | - | - | 35 | 340 | 12.59 | 16 | - |
| Collins, Stefan | 77 | 77 | 8 | 2 | 3 | 107* | 1,593 | 23.09 | 24 | 3 |
| Coulter-Nile, Nathan | 37 | 27 | 6 | 1 | 8 | 127* | 866 | 41.24 | 16 | - |
| Cunningham, Edward | 14 | 14 | 1 | - | 2 | 88* | 308 | 23.69 | 5 | - |
| Dehring, Glen | 65 | 80 | 4 | 1 | 9 | 109 | 1,667 | 21.93 | 58 | - |
| Elliot, Matthew | 28 | 37 | 3 | - | 4 | 69 | 616 | 18.12 | 9 | - |
| Elliot, Ray | 34 | 37 | 4 | - | - | 48 | 560 | 16.97 | 24 | - |
| Fatouros, Geremy | 80 | 74 | 6 | 11 | 4 | 140 | 2,413 | 35.48 | 29 | - |
| Fitzgerald, David | 12 | 14 | 2 | 2 | 4 | 146* | 648 | 54.00 | 6 | - |
| Fitzgerald, Greg | 163 | 180 | 19 | 2 | 13 | 150 | 3,488 | 21.66 | 274 | 41 |
| Glew, Steven | 233 | 278 | 25 | 18 | 42 | 223 | 8,856 | 35.00 | 192 | - |
| Godfrey, Gary | 30 | 32 | 9 | - | - | 39* | 374 | 16.26 | 9 | - |
| Gonnella, Peter | 70 | 77 | 17 | 4 | 13 | 123* | 2,237 | 37.28 | 20 | - |
| Goodwin, Jayden | 31 | 30 | 3 | 2 | 8 | 131 | 1,085 | 40.18 | 4 | |
| Goodwin, Murray | 128 | 148 | 19 | 14 | 31 | 198 | 5,891 | 45.67 | 44 | - |
| Green, Cameron | 44 | 40 | 6 | 4 | 8 | 201 | 1,626 | 47.82 | 19 | - |
| Hann, Geoff | 44 | 51 | 8 | 1 | 3 | 109* | 876 | 20.37 | 20 | - |
| Hansberry, Ben | 73 | 76 | 13 | 1 | 3 | 106 | 1,265 | 20.08 | 93 | 13 |
| Hansberry, Chris | 271 | 259 | 55 | 2 | 33 | 113 | 6,189 | 30.33 | 133 | - |
| Harris, Kim | 27 | 31 | 4 | - | 2 | 75 | 421 | 15.59 | 8 | - |
| Hart, Brad | 28 | 31 | 6 | - | 1 | 56 | 495 | 19.80 | 25 | - |



| PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50 s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | CT. | STP. |
|----------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-------------|------|-------|-------|-----|------|
| Hart, Michael | 69 | 52 | 11 | - | 2 | 65 | 696 | 16.97 | 6 | |
| Herzberg, Steven | 12 | 13 | 4 | - | 2 | 93 | 322 | 35.78 | 6 | - |
| Hogan, Tom | 46 | 37 | 4 | - | 5 | 75 | 817 | 24.76 | 27 | - |
| Holder, Andrew | 75 | 69 | 20 | 2 | 7 | 115 | 1,369 | 27.94 | 20 | - |
| How, Calum | 120 | 125 | 14 | 5 | 25 | 143* | 3,762 | 33.89 | 184 | 27 |
| Howman, Sam | 132 | 143 | 40 | - | 5 | 99 | 1,927 | 18.71 | 55 | - |
| Hubble, Jim | 66 | 75 | 20 | - | 9 | 0 | 1,616 | 29.38 | 51 | - |
| Hughes, Glenn | 84 | 101 | 7 | 3 | 13 | 133 | 2,423 | 25.78 | 48 | - |
| Hughes, Kim | 44 | 53 | 9 | 8 | 9 | 205 | 2,498 | 56.77 | 21 | - |
| Jeffrey, Philip | 11 | 13 | 1 | - | - | 46 | 335 | 27.92 | 2 | - |
| Jones, Brett | 18 | 24 | 2 | 1 | 3 | 114* | 618 | 28.09 | 8 | - |
| Jones, Peter | 106 | 106 | 40 | - | 1 | 52 | 934 | 14.15 | 216 | 16 |
| Kapinkoff, Kosta | 127 | 161 | 14 | 3 | 18 | 125 | 3,751 | 25.52 | 37 | - |
| King, Ian | 56 | 52 | 4 | - | 3 | 70 | 720 | 15.00 | 7 | - |
| Lilly, Aaron C | 161 | 152 | 34 | 4 | 17 | 115 | 3,687 | 31.25 | 47 | - |
| Lubich, Craig | 68 | 76 | 15 | - | 5 | 74* | 1,037 | 17.00 | 34 | - |
| Malajczuk, Andrew | 45 | 49 | 1 | 1 | 6 | 140 | 1,229 | 25.6 | 10 | - |
| Malcolm, Alexander | 159 | 188 | 15 | 10 | 33 | 163* | 5,642 | 32.61 | 67 | - |
| McKenzie, Hamish | 69 | 67 | 10 | 0 | 8 | 82 | 1,472 | 25.82 | 12 | - |
| McKeown, Patrick | 21 | 29 | 1 | 1 | 4 | 132 | 808 | 28.86 | 9 | - |
| Milne, Andrew | 37 | 36 | 4 | - | 6 | 78 | 764 | 23.88 | 18 | - |
| Moldrich, Peter | 17 | 19 | 1 | - | 2 | 99* | 516 | 28.67 | 4 | - |
| Monteleone, Tim | 211 | 216 | 21 | 4 | 32 | 155 | 5,496 | 29.71 | 135 | - |
| Moody S | 37 | 40 | 5 | - | 3 | 65* | 679 | 19.40 | 16 | - |
| Moran, Richard | 16 | 21 | - | 2 | 1 | 139 | 502 | 23.90 | 4 | - |
| Morris, John | 12 | 15 | 1 | - | 6 | 99 | 580 | 41.43 | 7 | - |
| Mulhall, Steven | 55 | 68 | 3 | 1 | 13 | 135 | 1,718 | 26.43 | 31 | - |
| Murphy, Anthony | 144 | 149 | 17 | 3 | 19 | 113* | 3,304 | 25.03 | 47 | - |
| Neilson, Steven | 47 | 40 | 9 | - | - | 38 | 326 | 10.52 | 19 | - |
| Nice, Martin | 44 | 49 | 2 | - | 1 | 83 | 700 | 14.89 | 18 | - |
| Nicholls, Paul | 31 | 37 | 4 | 3 | 7 | 151 | 1,401 | 42.45 | 13 | - |
| Page, Stuart | 61 | 70 | 10 | 1 | 4 | 117* | 1,144 | 19.07 | 42 | 4 |
| Parker, Josh | 31 | 21 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 77 | 326 | 18.59 | 1 | |
| Pearce, Sam | 34 | 43 | 5 | - | 3 | 72 | 711 | 18.11 | 11 | - |
| Penter, Kevin | 41 | 46 | 7 | - | 4 | 72 | 802 | 20.56 | 5 | - |
| Perrott, Christopher | 26 | 30 | 2 | - | 3 | 68 | 559 | 19.96 | 12 | - |
| Piromalli, Joseph | 16 | 18 | 2 | - | 2 | 85 | 419 | 26.19 | 7 | - |
| Porter, Graeme | 27 | 34 | 3 | - | 4 | 97 | 718 | 23.16 | 15 | - |
| Reed, David | 27 | 28 | 7 | - | 1 | 74 | 465 | 22.14 | - | - |
| Rule, Nicholas | 22 | 28 | 2 | - | 1 | 55 | 512 | 19.69 | 6 | - |
| Rule, Vince | 90 | 108 | 18 | - | 7 | 78* | 1,818 | 20.20 | 43 | - |



| PLAYER | MAT | INN | NO | 100s | 50s | HS | RUNS | AVE. | CT. | STP. |
|----------------------|-----|-----|----|------|-----|-----|-------|-------|-----|------|
| Sansalone, James | 85 | 53 | 9 | - | - | 36 | 318 | 7.23 | 20 | - |
| Saunders, Digby | 25 | 26 | 4 | - | 3 | 92* | 578 | 26.27 | 11 | - |
| Serjeant, Tim | 22 | 22 | 2 | - | 1 | 61 | 327 | 16.35 | 6 | - |
| Sharp, Kevin | 21 | 23 | 3 | 2 | 7 | 169 | 1,083 | 54.15 | 7 | - |
| Simpson, Michael | 147 | 159 | 18 | - | 14 | 85 | 3,169 | 22.48 | 289 | 6 |
| Smailes, Christopher | 76 | 85 | 6 | 4 | 11 | 114 | 2,101 | 26.59 | 30 | - |
| Swan, Gavin | 175 | 157 | 34 | - | - | 45 | 1,222 | 9.93 | 48 | - |
| Travers, Glenn | 21 | 22 | 2 | - | 3 | 97* | 416 | 20.8 | 8 | - |
| Tredget, Ben | 46 | 39 | 4 | - | 5 | 76 | 727 | 20.77 | 70 | 20 |
| Willey, David | 15 | 16 | - | 1 | 1 | 138 | 454 | 28.38 | 2 | - |
| Wright, Steven | 29 | 33 | 4 | 1 | 1 | 165 | 635 | 21.90 | 15 | - |
| Wulff, Kim | 44 | 38 | 11 | - | - | 39 | 501 | 18.56 | 10 | - |
| Young, Kyran | 43 | 36 | 15 | - | 1 | 59* | 417 | 19.86 | 16 | - |



Bowling - those who have taken 20 wickets or more in 1st Grade

| PLAYER | MAT | 0 | М | R | W | 5WI | ВВ | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|-------------------------|-----|-------|-----|-------|-----|-----|-------|-------|-------|------|
| Akhtar, Siddiqui | 15 | 218 | 58 | 614 | 37 | 3 | 5/28 | 16.59 | 35.40 | 2.81 |
| Alderman, Terry | 67 | 1388 | 381 | 3404 | 231 | 14 | 7/26 | 14.74 | 36.05 | 2.45 |
| Allen, Jeremy | 34 | 468 | 122 | 1237 | 68 | 2 | 6/29 | 18.19 | 41.32 | 2.64 |
| Auty, Clint | 23 | 416 | 98 | 1129 | 43 | 1 | 7/85 | 26.26 | 58.06 | 2.71 |
| Balcombe, Brendan | 19 | 293 | 85 | 780 | 26 | 1 | 6/35 | 30.00 | 67.62 | 2.66 |
| Bandy, David | 38 | 287 | 83 | 789 | 51 | 2 | 6/25 | 15.47 | 33.71 | 2.75 |
| Behrendorff, Jason | 67 | 726.2 | 166 | 2165 | 98 | 3 | 6/37 | 22.09 | 44.47 | 2.98 |
| Blake, Ashley M | 86 | 1091 | 257 | 3183 | 141 | 3 | 6/36 | 22.57 | 46.44 | 2.92 |
| Bolton, David | 185 | 1076 | 288 | 2851 | 139 | 3 | 5/20 | 20.51 | 46.46 | 2.65 |
| Branston, Simon | 17 | 235 | 33 | 928 | 39 | 2 | 5/37 | 23.79 | 36.18 | 3.95 |
| Breman, Todd | 66 | 489 | 174 | 1835 | 75 | 5 | 6/23 | 24.47 | 39.12 | 3.75 |
| Bush, Giles | 136 | 2913 | 830 | 7686 | 386 | 26 | 7/45 | 19.91 | 45.28 | 2.64 |
| Campbell, Robert | 115 | 909 | 168 | 2848 | 109 | 0 | 3/11 | 26.13 | 50.04 | 3.13 |
| Capes, Peter | 76 | 1361 | 332 | 3421 | 153 | 9 | 7/50 | 22.36 | 53.38 | 2.51 |
| Christensen, Harold | 11 | 116 | 34 | 325 | 20 | 0 | 4/18 | 16.25 | 34.80 | 2.80 |
| Clark, Michael | 53 | 843 | 223 | 2127 | 112 | 5 | 7/39 | 18.99 | 45.16 | 2.52 |
| Coulter-Nile, Nathan | 29 | 248 | 52 | 717 | 36 | 2 | 5/25 | 19.92 | 41.39 | 2.89 |
| Glew, Steven | 215 | 189 | 37 | 606 | 34 | 0 | 2/3 | 17.82 | 33.29 | 3.21 |
| Hansberry, Chris | 271 | 3627 | 760 | 10579 | 454 | 14 | 7/41 | 23.30 | 47.93 | 2.92 |
| Hart, Brad | 28 | 227 | 40 | 784 | 26 | 0 | 3/24 | 30.15 | 52.38 | 3.45 |
| Hart, Michael | 69 | 751.1 | 166 | 2,221 | 116 | 2 | 7/45 | 19.15 | 27.15 | 2.96 |
| Henryon, Philip | 31 | 477 | 75 | 1707 | 67 | 1 | 5/44 | 25.48 | 42.72 | 3.58 |
| Herzberg, Steven | 12 | 286 | 92 | 694 | 36 | 1 | 5/43 | 19.28 | 47.75 | 2.42 |
| Hogan, Tom | 46 | 853 | 269 | 2081 | 107 | 5 | 7/62 | 19.45 | 47.85 | 2.44 |
| Holder, Andrew | 74 | 636 | 121 | 2240 | 99 | 5 | 6/41 | 22.63 | 38.55 | 3.52 |
| Howman, Sam | 132 | 2605 | 767 | 6757 | 390 | 25 | 8/38 | 17.33 | 40.08 | 2.59 |
| Hubble, Jim | 66 | 289 | 53 | 820 | 36 | 0 | 4/17 | 22.78 | 48.17 | 2.84 |
| Hughes, Glenn | 84 | 267 | 84 | 622 | 25 | 0 | 4/27 | 24.88 | 64.13 | 2.33 |
| Hyland, Ian | 26 | 314 | 101 | 769 | 34 | 0 | 4/29 | 22.62 | 55.41 | 2.45 |
| Ireland D | 16 | 346 | 88 | 886 | 36 | 0 | 4/27 | 24.61 | 57.70 | 2.56 |
| Jeffrey, Philip | 11 | 206 | 44 | 599 | 30 | 0 | 4/31 | 19.97 | 41.20 | 2.91 |
| King, lan | 56 | 1025 | 260 | 2746 | 145 | 5 | 7/15 | 18.94 | 42.41 | 2.68 |
| Lilly, Aaron C | 146 | 545.5 | 88 | 2012 | 73 | 1 | 7/44 | 27.56 | 44.84 | 3.69 |
| Lubich, Craig | 68 | 1159 | 306 | 3047 | 122 | 3 | 7/145 | 24.98 | 57.00 | 2.63 |
| MacGill, Terry | 12 | 292 | 87 | 638 | 29 | 1 | 5/16 | 22.00 | 60.50 | 2.18 |
| Martin, Lucas | 47 | 497.2 | 73 | 1875 | 69 | 1 | 5/47 | 27.17 | 43.24 | 3.77 |



| PLAYER | MAT | 0 | M | R | W | 5WI | ВВ | AVE. | STR. | ECN. |
|-------------------------|-----|--------|-----|------|-----|-----|-------|-------|-------|------|
| McKenzie, Hamish | 69 | 670 | 95 | 2193 | 118 | 7 | 7/45 | 18.58 | 34.03 | 3.27 |
| Moldrich, Conor | 39 | 349.1 | 65 | 1080 | 44 | 1 | 7/45 | 24.55 | 47.62 | 3.09 |
| Monteleone, Tim | 211 | 1621.3 | 219 | 5715 | 202 | 3 | 5/28 | 28.29 | 48.16 | 3.52 |
| Moody, Scott | 37 | 540 | 122 | 1806 | 85 | 3 | 7/134 | 21.25 | 38.12 | 3.34 |
| Moscarda, Tom | 32 | 295 | 41 | 1076 | 43 | 2 | 6/25 | 25.02 | 41.14 | 3.65 |
| Neale, Paul | 19 | 297 | 64 | 975 | 32 | 1 | 5/48 | 30.47 | 55.69 | 3.28 |
| Neilson, Steven | 47 | 618 | 136 | 1917 | 68 | 3 | 5/25 | 28.19 | 54.55 | 3.10 |
| Nicholls, Paul | 31 | 331 | 53 | 845 | 34 | 0 | 4/29 | 24.85 | 58.48 | 2.55 |
| Penter, Kevin | 41 | 427 | 127 | 909 | 50 | 2 | 5/46 | 18.18 | 51.28 | 2.13 |
| Perrott, Christopher | 26 | 147 | 25 | 504 | 20 | 0 | 3/40 | 25.20 | 44.13 | 3.43 |
| Porter, Graeme | 27 | 380 | 114 | 920 | 44 | 1 | 7/20 | 20.91 | 51.82 | 2.42 |
| Raven, Brian | 109 | 2123 | 505 | 5039 | 269 | 11 | 7/29 | 18.73 | 47.35 | 2.37 |
| Raven, David | 16 | 259 | 49 | 731 | 28 | 1 | 5/55 | 26.11 | 55.50 | 2.82 |
| Sansalone, James | 85 | 848 | 158 | 3080 | 127 | 0 | 4/10 | 24.25 | 40.06 | 3.63 |
| Silinger, Tim | 46 | 512 | 104 | 1675 | 55 | 1 | 5/79 | 30.45 | 55.84 | 3.27 |
| Stockden, Glenn | 96 | 1244 | 280 | 4170 | 143 | 2 | 5/56 | 29.16 | 52.19 | 3.35 |
| Swan, Gavin | 175 | 3486 | 859 | 9607 | 480 | 19 | 9/23 | 20.01 | 43.57 | 2.76 |
| Thomson, Matthew | 25 | 370 | 79 | 1191 | 55 | 4 | 5/37 | 21.65 | 40.35 | 3.22 |
| Wulff, Kim | 44 | 437 | 100 | 1305 | 52 | 1 | 6/15 | 25.10 | 50.46 | 2.98 |
| Young, Kyran | 43 | 446 | 63 | 1839 | 41 | 0 | 3/52 | 44.85 | 65.24 | 4.12 |

100 1st Grade Games Played

| Rank | Debut # | Player | Games | Debut Season | Final Season |
|------|---------|-------------------|-------|--------------|--------------|
| 1 | 145 | Chris Hansberry | 271 | 2003/04 | |
| 2 | 117 | Steven Glew | 233 | 1997/98 | 2012/13 |
| 3 | 152 | Tim Monteleone | 211 | 2006/07 | |
| 4 | 123 | David Bolton | 185 | 1997/98 | 2011/12 |
| 5 | 81 | Gavin Swan | 175 | 1990/91 | 2005/06 |
| 6 | 35 | Greg Fitzgerald | 163 | 1981/82 | 1994/95 |
| 7 | 167 | Aaron Lilly | 161 | 2008/09 | |
| 8 | 149 | Alex Malcolm | 159 | 2004/05 | 2016/17 |
| 9 | 94 | Michael Simpson | 147 | 1992/93 | 2005/06 |
| 10 | 156 | Anthony J. Murphy | 144 | 2006/07 | 2017/18 |
| 11 | 9 | Giles Bush | 136 | 1977/78 | 1988/89 |
| 12 | 124 | Sam Howman | 132 | 1997/98 | 2006/07 |
| 13 | 84 | Murray Goodwin | 128 | 1990/91 | 2005/06 |
| 14 | 125 | Kosta Kapinkoff | 127 | 1997/98 | 2005/06 |
| 15 | 177 | Calum How | 120 | 2011/12 | 2018/19 |
| 16 | 118 | Chris Cann | 118 | 1997/98 | 2006/07 |



| Rank | Debut # | Player | Games | Debut Season | Final Season |
|------|---------|-----------------|-------|--------------|--------------|
| 17 | 90 | Robert Campbell | 115 | 1992/93 | 2002/03 |
| 18 | 29 | Brian Raven | 109 | 1980/81 | 1989/90 |
| 19 | 10 | Peter Jones | 106 | 1977/78 | 1984/85 |



Club legends, Monty, Lills and Junior celebrating another premiership



Club History

The Subiaco-Floreat Cricket Club was formed in 1977 when the Subiaco and Floreat Park clubs merged. 1900 to 1949

A cricket club in the Subiaco area was first formed in 1896 and played in the Senior Matting Association based at the Shenton Park Lake ground. In 1907-08 the Subiaco Club was admitted to the WACA A Grade competition but after two seasons were relegated to B Grade. During this time the Club moved to the newly developed Mueller Park in Subiaco where at the western end (later Subiaco Oval) they shared the playing fields with the Subiaco Football Club.

In the 1910-11 season, Subiaco combined with fellow B Grade team; Whittaker's and was re-admitted to A Grade as the Subiaco Cricket Club. The following season Subiaco merged with the neighbouring Leederville club to form the Subiaco-Leederville Cricket Club and played under this name until 1930-31, when they reverted to Subiaco Cricket Club.

By this time Mueller Parker had been renamed Subiaco Oval and from 1929-30 the Club enjoyed sustained success winning six premierships in the 17 seasons until 1946-47. Many Subiaco players from this era represented Western Australia, in the days before WA was admitted into the Sheffield Shield competition. Future Prime Minister, R.J. Hawke, played for the Club in the post-war years.

1950 to 1977

The Subiaco Club did not enjoy team success during the 1950's and 1960's finishing runner-up twice and making the finals one other time. The highlight for the Club from this era was Jack Rutherford being the first Western Australian to be selected for Australia on a major tour and the first to be capped when he was included in the Australian side which visited England, India, and Pakistan in 1956. Rutherford's single test was against India in Bombay.

In 1965-66 the Subiaco Club left Subiaco Oval and moved to Rosalie Park on the west side of Thomas Street. Jim Hubble became the Club's second Australian representative, touring South Africa in the summer of 1966-67, playing in nine matches, but not in the Tests. During the 1960's former England player Tony Lock played for the Club.

The Floreat Park Cricket Club was formed in the post-war years. In the 1959-60 season, Floreat Park was admitted into the WACA completion as a 2nd Grade club fielding teams in the lower grades only. Talented Floreat Park juniors seeking to play 1st Grade invariably moved to the neighbouring Subiaco Club. Notable Floreat Park juniors who made the move to Subiaco were Kim Hughes, Terry Alderman and Sam Gannon who all played Tests for Australia.

The recruitment of former Australian player Des Hoare as Captain-Coach in the late 1960's saw the Subiaco Club play in the finals four times in seven years, winning Premierships in 1971-72 and 1973-74. However, while the Subiaco Club was competitive at 1st Grade level, a small district and declining junior player numbers saw the Subiaco Club merge with the 2nd Grade Floreat Park Club. The Club was named Subiaco Floreat Cricket Club and commenced playing in the 1977-78 season.

The last match played between the two clubs was the 1976-77 4th grade grand final where the Subiaco 4th grade team captained by future President Larry Davies triumphed.



The amalgamation was a true merger with administrators and players from both Clubs sharing the roles. The new Club's headquarters was Floreat Oval, with Rosalie Park retained as the second ground (until 1981) along with Floreat's Alderbury Street Reserve. Subjaco's Lion emblem and gold and maroon colours were combined with the royal blue of Floreat Park, but there was no room for the Floreat Park grey.

1977 to 1999

WA Parliamentarian Ray Young was the inaugural President and Jim Hubble the inaugural Captain of Subiaco-Floreat and Terry Alderman returned to Floreat Oval but the first season did not bring instant success. During the following three season the Club were runners-up twice and semi-finalists once, as well as being Club Champions in 1978-79. All-rounder, Graeme Porter played for Australia in the 1979 World Cup.

1st grade success was finally achieved in the 1987-88 where a strong squad including Test players Terry Alderman, Kim Hughes and Tom Hogan alongside present or future 1st class players Giles Bush, Todd Breman and Peter Gonnella won the first 1st grade flag for the amalgamated Club and the ninth overall.

In 1983-84 future cricket broadcaster Glenn Mitchell, captained the Colts undefeated for nine matches to capture the Club's first Colts Premiership.

The 1980's decade was overall successful, in addition to the 1st grade and Colts, the Club also won a 2nd grade and a 3rd grade flag, while the 4^{ths} won a hat-trick of flags under the wily leadership of club stalwart Alan Bolton.

The 1990's were fairly lean for the 1st grade with only three final appearances. However, this decade saw the debut of Bunbury junior, Murray Goodwin, who would go on to play Test cricket for his native Zimbabwe. In 1990-91 all four senior sides qualified for the finals and the Club was once again Club Champion. The lower grades continued to be successful in this decade, the 2^{nds} and 4^{ths} both won two flags each as did the Colts. The 1997-98 Colts were captained by Steven Glew in his first of many Premierships for the Club.

2000 onwards

The 21st Century began with a bang. Under the inspiring leadership of fast bowler Gavin Swan, the 1st grade team won three successive premierships from 2000-01. The 1^{sts} competed in the finals eight times in the first decade of the new century. The dominance of the 1st grade team in this period saw the Club also claim the Club Championship in successive seasons 2000-01 and 2001-02. The Colts added three more flags to their collection, while the 3^{rds} with two flags and the 4^{ths} with one continued the success of the lower grade teams. In the One Day Sunday League competition, the Club finally found a winning formula, winning titles in 2004-05 and 2008-09.

Success continued into the 2010's. Under David Bolton the 1st grade did the "double", winning both the Pennant competition and the One Day League in 2010-11. The following season, the Club finished runners-up after losing a close grand final. The 1st grade bowling attack was particularly strong with fast bowlers Nathan Coulter-Nile and Jason Behrendorff operating. Coulter-Nile has gone on to represent both WA and Australia while Behrendorff debuted for WA in 2011 and subsequently represented Australia.

The 3rd grade won a flag in 2012-13 and in the following season with Noel Knight returning to the Club as Head Coach the 1st grade once again won the Sunday League Championship.



2014/15 saw the Club expand when the local WA Female Cricket Council A and B grade teams elected to join Subiaco-Floreat. It was a homecoming of sorts, as back in the 1970's the Subiaco men's and women's cricket clubs shared the facilities at Rosalie Park. The ladies made an immediate impact, winning the T20 final at the WACA ground.

Season 2016-17 saw Chris Hansberry lead the First-Grade team to a premiership, with gritty victories against top teams Fremantle and Claremont in the semi-finals before a memorable victory over Joondalup in the grand final. Cameron Green also made his debut for Western Australia and in 2020 made his test debut for Australia.

In 2017-18, the Colts competition was changed from a 50 over format to 20 overs. In 2018-19, the Subi-Floreat Colts produced one of the most remarkable performances seen at the WACA. After reaching 9/86 off 20 overs, an inspired spell of opening bowling dismissed Scarborough for 66 and saw the boys bring home the premiership. They then repeated the dose, going back-to-back, with a convincing victory over Claremont in 2019-20.

Season 2021-22 was a remarkable season and perhaps the most successful in the Club's history. Winning the men's Club Championship for the first time in 20 years and the female Club Championship for the first time ever was a tribute to the entire club and a mark of the consistent, high-quality performances across the grades. It was also a season of multiple premierships, with the First-Grade premiership and one day title, the Third-Grade team finishing runners up and the female A Grade team claiming the premiership after an undefeated season in the 50 over competition. Hamish McKenzie becoming the Club's fifth Olley Cooley medallist was the icing on the cake. The First-Grade grand final was a stunning game of cricket – sent in to bat in challenging conditions, the boys rallied to be 3-98 before collapsing to be all out for 118. An inspired spell of seam bowling from Michael Hart (7-47) saw South Perth dismissed for 117, which effectively sealed the premiership. Special mention must be made of Nicole Bolton who coached the Female A Grade team and had a profound impact, both on and off field, which culminated in a dominant performance to claim the 50 over title in emphatic fashion.

Club Premierships and Championships Male Club Premierships

| 1 st Grade | 2 nd Grade | 3 rd Grade | 4 th Grade |
|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| 1987 – 88 | 1977 – 78 | 1986 – 87 | 1977 – 78 |
| 2000 – 01 | 1980 – 81 | 2001 – 02 | 1982 – 83 |
| 2001 – 02 | 1990 – 91 | 2009 – 10 | 1983 – 84 |
| 2002 – 03 | 1993 – 94 | 2012 – 13 | 1984 – 85 |
| 2010 – 11 | | 2019 – 20 | 1990 – 91 |
| 2016 – 17 | | | 1994 – 95 |
| 2021 – 22 | | | 2000 – 01 |

Male Club Championships

| Sunday League / One Day Championships | Colts Championships | Club Championships |
|---|------------------------|--------------------|
| 2004 – 05 | 1983 – 84 | 1978 – 79 |
| 2008 – 09 | 1997 – 98 | 1987 – 88 |
| 2010 – 11 | 1998 – 99 | 1990 – 91 |
| 2013 – 14 | 2000 – 01 | 2000 – 01 |
| 2021 – 22 | 2007 – 08 | 2001 – 02 |
| | 2009 – 10 | 2021 – 22 |
| | 2018 – 19 | |
| | 2019 – 20 | |

Female Club Championships and Premierships

| A Grade 50 Overs | A Grade T20 | B Grade 40 Overs | B Grade T20 | Club Championships |
|---------------------|-------------|---------------------|-------------|-----------------------|
| 2018-19 | 2014 – 15 | | 2017-18 | 2021-22 |
| 2021-22 | | | | |

WA Cricket Umpires Association – Best & Fairest Awardees

| 1 st Grade Olley Cooley Medal | 2 nd Grade JP Robbins Medal | 3 rd Grade Albert Richings Medal | 4 th Grade Alan Mackley Medal |
|---|---|--|---|
| 1980–81 Kevin Sharp | 2005-06 Adam Bolton | 2013-14 Rohan Quain | 2002-03 Richard Catlin |
| 1989-90 Brian Raven | 2011-12 David Bolton | | |
| 2005-06 Sam Howman | | | |
| 2010-11 David Bandy | | | |
| 2021-22 Hamish McKenzie | | | |



1st Grade Match Results 1977/78 to 2021/22

| Year | Played | Won | Lost | Drawn | Position |
|---------|--------|-----|------|-------|--|
| 1977/78 | 12 | 5 | 7 | - | |
| 1978/79 | 14 | 11 | 3 | - | Runners-up |
| 1979/80 | 14 | 9 | 4 | 1 | Semi-finalists |
| 1980/81 | 14 | 10 | 3 | 1 | Runners-up |
| 1981/82 | 13 | 3 | 9 | 1 | |
| 1982/83 | 12 | 3 | 8 | 1 | |
| 1983/84 | 14 | 5 | 8 | 1 | |
| 1984/85 | 14 | 5 | 7 | 2 | |
| 1985/86 | 14 | 7 | 4 | 3 | |
| 1986/87 | 14 | 6 | 5 | 3 | |
| 1980/87 | 17 | 11 | 6 | 3 | Premiers |
| | | | _ | - | 14 th |
| 1988/89 | 14 | 3 | 6 | 5 | 14** |
| 1989/90 | 14 | 5 | 5 | 4 | |
| 1990/91 | 13 | 8 | 4 | 1 | Semi-finalists |
| 1991/92 | 12 | 5 | 6 | 1 | |
| 1992/93 | 12 | 2 | 10 | - | |
| 1993/94 | 12 | 5 | 7 | - | |
| 1994/95 | 12 | 3 | 9 | - | |
| 1995/96 | 12 | 5 | 6 | 1 | |
| 1996/97 | 12 | 5 | 7 | - | |
| 1997/98 | 12 | 3 | 9 | - | |
| 1998/99 | 14 | 8 | 3 | 3 | Semi-finalists |
| 1999/00 | 12 | 6 | 4 | 2 | Semi-finalists |
| 2000/01 | 16 | 13 | 3 | - | Premiers |
| 2001/02 | 16 | 12 | 4 | - | Premiers |
| 2002/03 | 17 | 14 | 2 | 1 | Premiers |
| 2003/04 | 14 | 9 | 4 | 1 | Elimination-finalists |
| 2004/05 | 15 | 10 | 4 | 1 | Semi-finalists |
| 2005/06 | 17 | 10 | 5 | 2 | Semi-finalists |
| 2006/07 | 15 | 10 | 4 | 1 | Runners-up |
| 2007/08 | 15 | 4 | 11 | _ | 14 th |
| 2008/09 | 15 | 9 | 5 | 1 | Semi-finalists |
| 2009/10 | 15 | 7 | 6 | 2 | 9 th |
| 2010/11 | 18 | 12 | 4 | 2 | Premiers |
| 2010/11 | 15 | 8 | 5 | 2 | Runners-up |
| 2011/12 | 13 | 6 | 6 | 1 | Elimination-finalists |
| 2012/13 | 18 | 11 | 6 | 1 | Semi-finalists (Grade) / Premiers (ODL) |
| | | | | | 12 th |
| 2014/15 | 15 | 4 | 10 | 1 | |
| 2015/16 | 16 | 8 | 6 | 2 | 7 th (Grade) / Semi-finalists (ODL) |
| 2016/17 | 18 | 12 | 4 | 2 | Premiers |
| 2017/18 | 15 | 8 | 7 | - | 8 th |
| 2018/19 | 15 | 8 | 6 | 1 | 8 th |
| 2019/20 | 15 | 10 | 3 | 2 | 3 rd |
| 2020/21 | 15 | 8 | 1 | 6 | 7 th |
| 2021/22 | 15 | 11 | 3 | 1 | Premiers |
| TOTAL | 646 | 337 | 249 | 60 | |

